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A N N U A L  R E P O R T  



A B O U T  K E Y I N V E S T

KeyInvest is a licensed Friendly Society regulated 

by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority 

(APRA) with total benefit fund assets under  

management of $192.7m at 30 June 2017.

KeyInvest provides Financial, Retirement and  

Lending Services founded on a long and proud  

history of caring for the welfare of our members.

KeyInvest originated in 1878 as the Independent 

Order of Odd Fellows South Australia (IOOFSA), and 

remains a member based Friendly Society providing 

a range of services to help customers achieve their 

financial and retirement goals. KeyInvest continues 

this tradition with a focus on “life’s key investments” 

specialising in Investment Bonds, Retirement Living, 

Lending and Insurance Services.
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I am pleased to report to KeyInvest members on the achievements of the KeyInvest Group1 during the 2016/17 financial 
year.  

The low interest rate environment in which the Group has operated for some time continued in 2016/17 with the Reserve 
Bank of Australia maintaining cash rates on hold at their historic low of 1.5% from August 2016.   

Market expectations are that a tightening cycle is not likely to commence until late 2018.  The inflation rate for 2016/17 
was 1.9%, comfortably within the Reserve Bank of Australia’s target range although this implies a negative real interest 
rate against cash rate levels.  This has afforded the Reserve Bank the latitude to maintain domestic rates in a protracted 
on hold position despite some increases in cash rates in overseas jurisdictions, notably the United States. 

For savers looking for capital safety, this has meant that low risk yields have remained at historically low levels. 

Although the AUD commenced the year at USD$0.75, the low was USD$0.717 in December 2016 and at the time of 
writing it was a touch above the USD$0.80 mark which is higher than policymakers would like at this stage in the cycle. 

The 2016/17 financial year was a buoyant year for equity markets with eight of the 12 months delivering positive results 
and an overall 13.8% return for the 2016/17 financial year as measured by the S&P/ASX 300 index. 

GDP growth for the 2016/17 financial year was 1.9% and was well below the long run average of nearly 3.5%.  Recent 
weaker coal and iron ore prices have impacted export revenues and real incomes, however export volumes continued to 
grow in the June quarter.  Dwelling construction remains at elevated levels notwithstanding new residential building 
approvals are declining.  This is balanced by increases in purchases of new machinery and equipment as well as 
increases in the June quarter employment and hours worked estimates, although there is little, if any, sign of upwards 
pressure on wages at this point. 

KeyInvest’s financial performance reflects our steady and consistent progress in building of our asset base and 
maintenance of our regulatory capital position in challenging market conditions.   

We are pleased that we have been able to provide competitive rates of return on our capital guaranteed member 
investments in a climate of low inflation and low interest rates.  

Financial planners have utilised the benefits of our largest capital guaranteed bond, the KeyInvest Funeral Bond, to help 
manage the impact of changes to the Age Pension asset test thresholds and Age Pension taper rates which came into 
effect on 1 January 2017.  This resulted in a record year of inflows for this product supported by KeyInvest’s easy to use, 
online application process which has improved efficiency and lowered processing time. 

The upgraded Life Events Bond, with a significantly expanded menu of investment choices has also generated greater 
interest among financial planners as an alternative to superannuation or for simple but flexible long term savings plans 
for their clients. 

With a record year of loan settlements and with our sights set on even higher volumes for the next year, our Lending 
Services team is reaping the benefits of successful support strategies to attract new brokers into the industry. 

An intensified building development program at KeyInvest’s three retirement village development sites will deliver 
meaningful increases in completed retirement units in the forthcoming year.  Unit sales again increased this year and 
occupancy at our completed villages remains high.  

KeyInvest’s notable achievements during 2016/17 included: 

 Distribution capabilities of our KeyInvest Funeral Bond were further enhanced as our newly developed online 
application technology was released to the market.  

 Finalisation of designs for the $1.5m Chiton Lakehouse for completion of construction in 2017 at this outstanding 
and award winning sustainable living village environment. 

 Construction of Stage 3 civil works for 22 more homes at our Woodside Lodge development. 

 The Adviser magazine recognised KeyInvest Lending Services at this year’s Better Business Awards as the Best 
Customer Service Office in South Australia. 

                                                        
1 Group means KeyInvest Ltd and its controlled entities.  
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We continue to improve the long term sustainability of KeyInvest to provide greater value for our members.  

I take this opportunity to thank our Directors, Executive Management team and staff for their ongoing dedication and 
commitment during another challenging, but successful year for the Company2 and the Group.  

 

Yours sincerely 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Dr Roger N Sexton AM 
Chairman  

 

 

                                                        
2 Company means KeyInvest Ltd ABN 74 087 649 474. 
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Building our financial strength to serve our members and clients. 

 

I am pleased to have the opportunity to report to our members on developments in the 2016/17 financial year. 

OUR STRATEGY 

KeyInvest is proud to be one of the few remaining Friendly Societies in Australia that is successfully pursuing a strategy 
of innovation and financial growth. 

The KeyInvest Strategic Business Plan focusses on the organic growth of our three existing business divisions together 
with the pursuit of strategic initiatives designed to optimise the return on capital and drive improved financial performance 
to further build our financial strength to serve our members and clients. 

We have developed a number of transformation initiatives in the three key areas of Financial Growth, Operational 
Innovation and People & Culture with each initiative having focus areas, measurable success metrics and commitments 
to action. 

Financial Services - Refresh the existing products and improve delivery to third party distributors to replace outflows 
from legacy products and sustain overall Funds Under Management (FUM) levels while exploring alternate financial 
products with higher yield and investor returns to broaden our market reach and investor demographic. 

Lending Services - Grow loan sales volumes and Loans Under Management through continued expansion of the broker 
network.  Expand income streams through the introduction of additional product offerings.  

Retirement Services - Grow retirement living stock through the accelerated completion of the three existing 
development sites.  Increase our sales volumes of existing and newly developed units to maximise revenues and 
enhance cash flows.   

OUR FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

Our capital position as measured under APRA’s Prudential Standards remains very strong and continues to comfortably 
exceed APRA’s capital adequacy requirements for the capital guaranteed Funds and our Management Fund.   

Our consolidated entity results for 2016/17 shows a loss after tax of $(387,158) (2015/16: $825,001 profit) and was 
negatively impacted by an extraordinary $1.03m non-cash write down in goodwill within the Lending Services business.  

This year was a far more stable one for fixed interest investments and this was reflected in vastly improved investment 
returns and bonuses for members, despite the continuing low interest rate environment.  Our FUM growth was 13% to 
nearly $193m and our investment income within our Benefit Funds increased by 47% to $6,281,279 (2015/16: 
$4,244,433). 

Revenues from retirement village deferred management fees and development margins were relatively steady at 
$2,020,660 (2015/16: $1,925,093).  Occupancy at our established villages remains consistently above industry 
benchmarks and we have maintained a significant program of reinvesting in our older units as they become available by 
undertaking extensive refurbishment before re-licensing. 

Our core focus of delivering a sustainable and sought after retirement living experience at all villages we operate, 
remains paramount and the progressive and accelerated completion of the three development sites at Chiton, 
Woodside Lodge and Wimmera Lodge will build our retirement living portfolio to 500 units over the next three years. 

FINANCIAL SERVICES - INVESTMENT BONDS 

KeyInvest assists its members with long term savings by offering a range of investment bond products that are 
distributed nationally by financial planner networks.  With $193m in FUM, our members receive excellent tax, social 
security and estate planning benefits. 

Our largest and most popular capital guaranteed bond, the KeyInvest Funeral Bond, has enjoyed record inflows in 
2016/17 as financial planners took advantage of its excellent estate planning advantages and significant aged pension 
assets test concessions for their clients.  
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We were pleased to receive outstanding support for our re-launched Life Events Bond Funds in 2016/17.  This unitised 
product now delivers an expanded and competitive 27 option investment menu, with access to some of Australia’s and 
the world’s finest underlying investment managers.  The Life Events Bond offers a flexible, tax effective alternative to 
superannuation that can be accessed before retirement or utilised as a long term savings vehicle for specific goals such 
as funding children’s education or other major life events. 

FINANCIAL SERVICES - LENDING SERVICES 

KeyInvest Lending Services has maintained its position as a significant award winning national boutique mortgage 
broking business. 

The performance of the Lending Services business reflects the industry transformation towards lower commission rates 
and higher average broker share of commission - with the goodwill write down recognising a diminishing pool of historical 
loans were written at higher commission levels than those paid by the banks since the Global Financial Crisis.  

This year, record loan settlement volumes were achieved and generated a 7% uplift in commissions to $8,070,878 
(2015/16: $7,544,016).   

Our mentoring and training programs are proving their worth to new brokers by providing them with a proven formula for 
success in a competitive industry and increasing broker numbers provide a sound foundation for further increases in loan 
settlements and commission growth. 

RETIREMENT SERVICES 

KeyInvest operates 10 sites and 374 completed homes with a development pipeline across three sites that will grow the 
portfolio to 500 homes in the period to 2021.  

The portfolio is a blend of smaller established and strategically located metropolitan sites, together with larger 
development sites located in regional areas within an hour of Adelaide with favorable underlying demographics and 
attraction factors for retirees.   

Our retirement villages all have their own unique characteristics in keeping with the local area and serving the 
requirements of the discerning retiree. 

KEYINVEST ODD FELLOWS FOUNDATION - IN THE COMMUNITY 

KeyInvest was founded in 1878 as IOOF(SA) and retains its ethos of supporting the less advantaged in the community.  
For hundreds of years under the “Odd Fellow” tradition, members cared for widows and orphans of members, long 
before Government welfare existed.  

KeyInvest created the KeyInvest Odd Fellows Foundation with a mission to perpetuate the Odd Fellows ethos through 
the support of the following charities with grants and fundraising activities: 

Fishing for the Disabled Australia Incorporated - The Foundation was pleased to grant $5,000 to continue to support 
the work of this charity during the year. 

Morialta Charitable Trust - As a founding partner of this charity in the 1930’s, KeyInvest continues to strongly support 

Morialta through the KeyInvest Odd Fellows Foundation, as Morialta provides grants to positively support children and 
young people in South Australia.  

In 2016/17 the Morialta Trust approved grants in excess of $450,000 which directly benefited children and young adults 
in our local community. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

 

Ian Campbell  
Managing Director  
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KeyInvest places great importance on its corporate governance framework.  The Board regularly reviews and refines its 
corporate governance policies to ensure systems are in place to encourage and deliver sustainable and profitable 
financial performance with long term growth of members’ funds. 

The Board - Roles and Responsibilities 

The Board is responsible for the Group’s overall strategy, governance and performance.  Under the Corporate 
Governance Policy, the Board has adopted a schedule of its roles and responsibilities as documented within its charter.  
Broadly, the Board’s role includes:  

 reviewing and approving the objectives and strategic direction of the Group; 

 setting the Group’s risk appetite and ensuring the Group’s risk culture is consistent with the approved risk 
appetite; 

 ensuring the Group’s business continuity framework is appropriate for the nature and scale of the Group’s 
operations and consistent with the Group’s Risk Management Strategy;  

 reviewing and approving the Group’s statutory and regulatory accounts; 

 adopting the annual budgets of the Company and each of its wholly owned subsidiaries; 

 approving significant business decisions of the Group; 

 understanding the Group’s business and the industries and environments within which it operates to effectively 
oversee the risk management and strategic direction of the Group; 

 monitoring the achievement of all objectives and the performance of the Group;  

 reviewing marketing and communication strategies for the Group; 

 maintaining an adequate level and quality of capital commensurate with the scale, nature and complexity of the 
Group’s business and risk profile; 

 monitoring the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls implemented by the Company; and 

 appointing and reviewing the performance of the Company’s Managing Director. 

The Corporate Governance Policy also details the roles and responsibilities of the Board’s Committees. 

The Group’s key operating controlled entities each have separate Boards which are responsible for overseeing the 
strategy, governance and performance of those entities. 

The Board has put in place a formal delegation structure that details specific authorities delegated to its Board 
Committees, the Managing Director, Management and those authorities specifically retained by the Board. 

Role of the Managing Director 

The Board has specifically delegated responsibility for the day to day management of the Company, its performance and 
the achievement of all agreed objectives of the Company to the Managing Director.  The Managing Director is 
responsible for operational risk management and ensuring compliance with all policies and procedures of the Company. 

Role of the Chairman 

The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board and facilitating effective discussions at Board meetings.  The 
Chairman also has delegated responsibility and authority from the Board to conduct annual individual performance 
assessments of all Non Executive Directors. 
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Board Size and Composition 

In accordance with the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority’s (APRA) Prudential Standard CPS 510 Governance 
and the Company’s Constitution, the Board: 

 comprises a majority of independent Non Executive Directors; 

 is chaired by an independent Non Executive Director; 

 has a minimum of five Directors; and 

 has an appropriate mix of skills, experience and personal attributes which allow the Directors individually, and the 
Board collectively, to discharge their role and responsibilities. 

In accordance with APRA’s Prudential Standard CPS 520 Fit and Proper the Board membership must comprise Directors 
with appropriate skills, experience and knowledge, who act with honesty and integrity.  That is, they are considered to be 
fit and proper. 

The current membership of the Board is set out in the Directors’ Report and comprises six independent Non Executive 
Directors and one Executive Director. 

Board Renewal and Succession Planning  

The Company’s Constitution requires the regular rotation of Non Executive Directors such that no Non Executive Director 
serves for a period of more than three years without re-election. 

A particular focus of the Board is to preserve continuity and have an appropriate pool of skills and experience, whilst 
achieving an orderly succession of the Board’s long serving members.  The Board has established a Board Renewal 
Plan that sets out how the Board intends to progressively and systematically renew its membership.   

In accordance with the Company’s Constitution, Ms Donny Walford and Mr Marcus La Vincente will retire by rotation at 
the upcoming 2017 Annual General Meeting and offer themselves for re-election at that meeting.  Further information on 
Ms Walford and Mr La Vincente is available in the Explanatory Memorandum contained within the Notice of Annual 
General Meeting. 

Board Performance Evaluation 

The Board must ensure that the Directors and Senior Management of the Group, collectively, have the full range of skills 
needed for the effective and prudent operation of the Group.  This includes the requirement for Directors, collectively, to 
have the necessary skills, knowledge and experience to understand the risks of the Group, including its legal and 
prudential obligations and to ensure that the Group is managed in an appropriate way. 

The Board Performance Evaluation Procedures assess the performance of Non Executive Directors and the 
Managing Director relative to their respective objectives and their contribution to Board deliberations and processes.  

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee, together with the Chairman, is responsible for evaluating the Board’s 
performance and each Director’s individual performance including that of the Chairman and Managing Director.  The 
Board undertook an extensive Board performance self-evaluation and review process with respect to the 2016/17 
financial year.  

Training and Development 

A Director Induction Program is carried out for all new Non Executive Directors to ensure they are suitably equipped with 
information for their role and are aware of the governance environment within which the Group operates.   

Directors are required to meet minimum standards of involvement in training and development programs in order to 
enhance their knowledge of the industries within which the Group operates.  

Board Practices 

The Board holds regular meetings to receive reports on the Group’s progress and to review both the Group’s operating 
performance and monitor the effectiveness of established strategies.  The Board may meet on other occasions, as 
required, and the independent Non Executive Directors meet frequently in the absence of the Managing Director and 
Executive Management.  In addition, corporate strategy meetings are held to assess and determine the strategic 
direction of the Group. 
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Details of the number of meetings held by the Board and its Committees during the 2016/17 financial year and 
attendance by Directors are set out in the Directors’ Report. 

The Board is entitled to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in respect of specific issues 
that arise from time to time. 

Risk Management 

KeyInvest considers risk management to be a fundamental part of the achievement of its strategic and operational 
objectives.  The Group maintains a strong risk culture that ensures the key risks inherent in the business are well 
understood, formally documented and managed.   

The Company is required under APRA Prudential Standard CPS 220 Risk Management to maintain a risk management 
framework and strategy that is appropriate to the nature and scale of its operations.  An annual risk management 
declaration is provided to APRA which is signed by the Chairman of the Board and the Chairman of the Board Risk 
Committee.  The Company’s Appointed Actuary is also required to submit an assessment on the suitability of the risk 
management practices of the business as part of an annual Financial Condition Report which is provided to APRA.   

In accordance with APRA Prudential Standard LPS 110 Capital Adequacy, the Company has documented its Internal 
Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) and implements the requirements of the Standard within its risk 
management framework. 

Overall, the Board is responsible for the Group’s risk management framework and oversees the implementation of 
systems, processes, structures and policies designed to identify, assess, mitigate and monitor risks of the Group.  The 
active identification of risks and implementation of mitigation measures are responsibilities of Senior Management.  The 
Board has adopted a Risk Management Strategy that defines the responsibilities of the Board, Board Audit Committee, 
Board Risk Committee, other Board Committees, the Managing Director, Group Chief Risk Officer (Group CRO), Senior 
Managers and staff.  

The Group’s risk registers, risk management practices and risk and compliance policies are progressively reviewed and 
updated during the year. 

The internal audit function has full and free access to the Board Audit Committee and the Chairman of the Board.  

Board Committees 

To assist the Board in discharging its role and responsibilities it maintains five Board Committees.  

Each Committee operates in accordance with a written charter and it is the policy of the Board that a majority of the 
members of each Committee should be independent.  Information on the Directors and their Committee memberships 
can be found in the Directors’ Report.  The role and function of each Committee is reviewed annually by the Board. 

The Committees of the Board are: 

Corporate Governance Committee 

The Corporate Governance Committee has been established to advise on the Group’s corporate governance policies 
and procedures and to oversee the maintenance of the Company’s Benefit Fund Rules. 

In particular, the Committee is responsible for ensuring the Company’s compliance with APRA’s Prudential Standard 
CPS 510 Governance. 

Remuneration and Nomination Committee 

In accordance with APRA’s Prudential Standard CPS 510 Governance this Committee comprises a minimum of three 
Non Executive Directors, with a majority of the members of the Committee being independent. 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee has been established to review and make recommendations to the Board 
on remuneration and incentives applicable to the Directors and Senior Management of the Group in accordance with 
APRA’s Prudential Standard CPS 510 Governance and the Group’s Remuneration Policy. 

This Committee is also responsible for making recommendations regarding nominations and appointments of Directors, 
the fitness and propriety of Directors, Senior Management, the External Auditor, the Internal Auditor and the Actuary, in 
accordance with APRA’s Prudential Standard CPS 520 Fit and Proper.   
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Board Audit Committee 

In accordance with APRA’s Prudential Standard CPS 510 Governance this Committee comprises a minimum of three 
Non Executive Directors, with a majority of the members of the Committee being independent. 

The primary function of the Board Audit Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by providing an 
objective non-executive review of the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting and financial risk management 
framework, including: 

 Financial Statements and financial reporting;  

 any changes in financial reporting requirements and professional accounting requirements and standards, and 
advising or making recommendations to the Board; 

 the scope of internal and external audit plans; 

 the performance and independence of internal and external auditors; and 

 the appointment and removal of the External Auditor and Internal Auditor. 

Board Risk Committee 

In accordance with APRA’s Prudential Standard CPS 510 Governance this Committee comprises a minimum of three 
Non Executive Directors, with a majority of the members of the Committee being independent. 

The primary function of the Board Risk Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by providing an 
objective non-executive oversight of the implementation and operation of the Group’s risk management and compliance 
framework, including: 

 reviewing and monitoring the risk culture, identifying any desired changes to it, setting the tone, and providing an 
environment where sound risk culture is established and maintained; 

 advising the Board in relation to the Group’s current and future risk appetite and Risk Management Strategy; 

 establishing an enterprise-wide view of the Group’s current and future risk position relative to its risk appetite and 
capital strength; 

 overseeing Senior Management’s implementation of the Risk Management Strategy; 

 overseeing the effectiveness of the risk management framework including compliance and internal controls; 

 constructively challenging Senior Management’s proposals and decisions on all aspects of risk management 
arising from the Group’s activities; 

 reviewing the performance and setting the objectives of the Group CRO, and ensuring the Group CRO has 
unfettered access to the Board and the Board Risk Committee; and 

 oversight of the appointment and removal of the Designated Group CRO. 

Finance and Investment Committee 

The Finance and Investment Committee has been established to advise the Board on the financial activities, investment 
policies and activities of the Group. 

In particular, this Committee is responsible for reviewing and recommending for approval to the Board:  

 the annual budget of the Company and each of its wholly owned subsidiaries; 

 the bonus rates to be declared on capital guaranteed investment bonds;  

 the financial viability of major projects; and 

 the long term financial positioning and investment strategies of the Group.  
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These financial statements are the consolidated financial statements of the 
consolidated entity consisting of KeyInvest Ltd and its subsidiaries. 

The financial statements are presented in the Australian currency. 

KeyInvest Ltd is a company limited by shares and guarantee, however no 
shares have been issued.  The company is incorporated and domiciled in 
Australia and its registered office and principal place of business are: 

49 Gawler Place, Adelaide, South Australia 5000. 

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations and its 
principal activities are included in the directors’ report, which is not part of the 
financial statements. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a 
resolution of directors, on 28 September 2017.  The directors have the power 
to amend and resissue the financial statements.   
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The Directors of KeyInvest Ltd (company or parent entity) present their report, together with the financial statements of 
the consolidated entity, being the company and its subsidiary entities, for the year ended 30 June 2017. 

Principal Activities 

The consolidated entity’s principal activities during the financial year were the provision of financial products and services 
(specifically Life Investment Contracts to members), the development and management of retirement villages and the 
provision of lending services.   

There were no significant changes to the consolidated entity’s principal activities during the year.  

Objectives 

The consolidated entity’s objectives and key performance indicators for the financial year were to: 

 Maintain a strong capital position while delivering positive annual returns to our capital guaranteed bondholders in 
a low fixed interest return environment. 

 Maintain strong corporate governance structures and risk and compliance frameworks to ensure the consolidated 
entity’s legal, legislative and regulatory obligations are met. 

 Deliver an enhanced Life Events Bond to market, online lodgement capability for the KeyInvest Funeral Bond and 
growth in the level of funds under management. 

 Advance the construction of its retirement village developments at Woodside, Chiton and Horsham. 
 Achieve growth in retirement village settlements and maintain high occupancy levels across our completed 

retirement villages. 
 Attract more mortgage brokers to the Lending Services business and achieve growth in loans under 

management. 

The consolidated entity’s long term objectives include: 

 Maintenance of a strong capital position for the benefit of members. 
 The completion of our retirement village developments at Woodside, Chiton and Horsham. 
 The organic growth of our Financial Services and Lending Services businesses. 

KeyInvest continues to invest in the development of enhanced products and services, improved operational and sales 
management systems, growing distribution channels via targeted marketing campaigns and ongoing development of 
skilled professionals to deliver the strategies that underpin the strategic objectives. 

Review of the Consolidated Entity’s Operations and Results 

An overview of the consolidated entity’s operations is also set out in the Managing Director’s Report. 

The members’ entitlement to the consolidated entity’s net profit (loss) from ordinary activities after income tax for the 
financial year was $(196,775) (2016: $604,771). 

Operating revenue of the consolidated entity for the financial year was $18,212,933 (2016: $16,941,621).   

The total comprehensive income (loss) for the year was $(387,158) (2016: $825,001). 

The net assets of the consolidated entity after restatement of comparatives as at 30 June 2017 increased to $34,096,231 
(2016: before restatement of comparatives $32,165,533).  

Life Investment Funds 

Despite the continuation of the historic low yield environment in 2017, the company’s capital guaranteed Life Investment 
funds exceeded their investment performance benchmarks before fees and tax and paid increased bonus rates, 
consistent with the very high quality investments in which these funds are invested to preserve members’ capital. 

Revenue growth to $6,281,279 (2016: $4,244,433) was achieved by growing our Life Investment funds in a low yield 
environment.  

Members’ Life Investment funds at the end of the financial year benefited from strong inflows and achieved growth of 
13% to $192,686,497 (2016: $170,964,719). 
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Retirement Living 

The consolidated entity’s Retirement Services division achieved 19% higher new and existing unit sales transactions 
compared to the prior year.  Deferred management fees and development margins of $2,020,660 (2016: $1,925,093) did 
not achieve similar growth due to a less favourable mix of sales during the year compared with the prior year.  
Occupancy at established villages averaged 95% for 2017 which exceeds industry averages. 

The development pipeline construction at the three development villages will deliver up to 10% growth in the number of 
completed units in the portfolio in 2018 and provides stock to support higher new and recurring unit sales in future years. 

Lending Services 

KeyInvest Lending Services is continuing to benefit from a growing nationwide network of brokers due to successful 
broker attraction and development initiatives. 

Commission revenue from Lending Services grew 7% to $8,070,878 (2016: $7,544,016) reflecting a record $541m of 
loan settlements.  

Significant Changes in State of Affairs 

No significant changes in the consolidated entity’s state of affairs occurred during the financial year. 

After Balance Date Events 

Other than as disclosed in this report or the financial statements, there have been no matters or circumstances that have 
arisen, which significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of 
those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity in future financial years. 

Future Developments, Prospects and Business Strategies 

Disclosure of information relating to future developments of the consolidated entity in future financial years is likely to 
result in unreasonable prejudice to the interests of the consolidated entity.  Accordingly, this information has not been 
disclosed in this Report. 

Directors 

The names and particulars of the Directors of the company during the financial year: 

 Dr Roger Sexton AM BEc (Hons), MEc, PhD (Econ), FAICD, FAIM, SF Fin, CPMgr, CUniv 

 
 Chairman 

(Independent 
Non Executive) 

Appointed Director on 1 October 2003.  Dr Sexton is Chairman of the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee.  Dr Sexton is an Investment 
Banker with over 30 years experience and is a specialist in corporate 
reconstruction, financial planning and funds management.  He is a 
Director of a number of private and public company boards and 
organisations.  
 

 Daryl Stillwell BA, Dip App Psych, Reg Psych MAPS(MCOP), FAICD, CMC, MAHRI 

 
 Deputy Chairman 

(Independent 
Non Executive) 

Appointed Director on 1 July 2005.  Mr Stillwell is a member of the 
Corporate Governance Committee, the Finance and Investment 
Committee and Remuneration and Nomination Committee.  During 
FY2016/17 Mr Stillwell also served on the Board Audit and Board Risk 
Committees.  Mr Stillwell is Managing Director of a human resources 
consulting company and has over 40 years experience within that industry.  
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 Donny Walford FAICD 

 
 Director  

(Independent 
Non Executive) 

Appointed Director on 1 July 2005.  Ms Walford is the Chairman of the 
Finance and Investment Committee and a member of the Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee.  During FY2016/17 Ms Walford also served 
on the Corporate Governance Committee.  Ms Walford is CEO of a 
strategy consulting company and has extensive experience in financial 
management, human resources, strategic planning and project 
management.  
 

 Tim Sarah BEc, MBA (Exec), ACA, FAICD 

 
 Director  

(Independent 
Non Executive) 

Appointed Director on 1 July 2007.  During FY2016/17 Mr Sarah took a 
leave of absence and stepped down from his membership of the Board 
Audit Committee, Board Risk Committee and the Corporate Governance 
Committee.  Mr Sarah resumed membership of these Committees on 
1 July 2017.  Mr Sarah is Joint Managing Director of a private commercial 
construction group with 20 years experience.  Previously he worked in a 
professional accounting firm.  
 

 Geoff Vogt BEc, FAICD, FGIA, FCIS, SF Fin, FCPA, ANZIF (Assoc), CTP, RFD 

 
 Director  

(Independent 
Non Executive) 

Appointed Director on 27 May 2010.  Mr Vogt is the Chairman of the 
Board Risk Committee and a member of the Board Audit Committee (also 
chairing the Committee in FY2016/17) and the Finance and Investment 
Committee.  Mr Vogt is CEO of the Industry Leaders Fund Inc and a 
Director on a number of boards.  Previously he worked as a CEO and in 
other senior executive roles primarily in the finance and insurance 
industries. 
 

 Marcus La Vincente 

 

LLB, MBA, FAICD, FANZCN, FNSSA, Notary Public 

 Director  
(Independent 
Non Executive) 

Appointed Director on 15 November 2011.  Mr La Vincente is the 
Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee and a member of the 
Board Audit Committee and the Board Risk Committee.  Mr La Vincente 
was a Partner with the law firm Minter Ellison for 10 years ending in June 
2013 and is now a Senior Legal Adviser to that law firm.  Mr La Vincente 
has extensive commercial and corporate law experience as well as acting 
for a number of prominent not for profit organisations. 
 

 Ian Campbell 

 

BBus (Acctg), GMQ, MBA, FAICD, FCPA, JP 

 
 Managing Director 

(Executive) 
Appointed Director on 30 November 2004 and Managing Director in 
January 2007.  Mr Campbell has a 20 year corporate and business 
banking background.  Upon leaving the banking industry he successfully 
developed and operated two home loan companies nationally.  At 
KeyInvest, he has combined his strong financial services and business 
building background to the creation of KeyInvest Lending Services and 
overseeing the development and growth of the company’s Retirement 
Services business. 
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The following persons were Directors of the following controlled entities of KeyInvest Ltd during the financial year and/or 
as at the date this Annual Report was published. 

 KeyInvest Property Loans Pty Ltd 
 Australian Associated Advisers Pty Ltd 
 Money Advisers Pty Ltd 

Roger Sexton (Chairman), Donny Walford and 
Ian Campbell. 

 Chiton RV Pty Ltd 
 Chiton RV Developments Pty Ltd 
 KeyInvest Retirement Living Pty Ltd 
 KeyInvest Gables Pty Ltd 
 KeyInvest Horsham Pty Ltd 
 KeyInvest Vistas Pty Ltd 
 KeyInvest Winzor Pty Ltd  
 Life Events Bond Pty Ltd 

Ian Campbell and Stephen Favretto. 

 
Company Secretary 

Dion Silvy, Chartered Secretary, AGIA, ACIS, BFin, GradDipAppFin (Wealth Management), GAICD 

Mr Silvy was appointed Company Secretary on 27 March 2014.  Mr Silvy’s professional experience includes corporate 
advisory and corporate secretarial work for numerous Australian and international companies and four years with the 
Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) advising listed companies on compliance with the ASX Listing Rules.  In addition 
to his professional qualification as a Chartered Secretary he holds a Bachelor of Finance and a Diploma of Applied 
Finance and Investment. 

Directors’ Meetings 

The table below shows the number of Directors’ meetings of the company held (including meetings of Board 
Committees) and the number of meetings attended by each of the Directors of the company during the year: 
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R N Sexton 11 11 - - - - 3 3 - - - - 

D L Stillwell 11 11 3 3 5 5 3 3 5 31 5 31 

D Walford 11 10 3 22 5 5 3 3 - - - - 

T H Sarah 11 03 - - - - - - - - - - 

G T Vogt 11 11 - - 5 4 - - 5 5 5 5 

M D La Vincente 11 11 3 3 - - - - 5 5 5 5 

I J Campbell4 11 11 3 3 5 4 3 3 5 5 5 5 

 
1 Daryl Stillwell was appointed as a member of the Board Audit Committee and Board Risk Committee on 31 October 
2016.  He attended all three of the Board Audit and Board Risk Committee meetings held since 31 October 2016.  An 
external consultant also attended all meetings of the Board Audit and Board Risk Committees during the year. 

2 Donny Walford replaced Tim Sarah’s position on the Corporate Governance Committee during his leave of absence. 

3 Tim Sarah took an unpaid leave of absence from 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017. 

4 Ian Campbell attended Committee meetings by invitation. 

In addition, a number of Directors’ meetings were held during the year for KeyInvest Property Loans Pty Ltd and its 
subsidiaries.  
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Indemnification of Officers or Auditors 

During the financial year the company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the Directors, the Company 
Secretary and all officers of the consolidated entity, against liabilities incurred in their capacity as a director, secretary or 
officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.  The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature 
of the liabilities covered and the amount of premium. 

During or since the end of the financial year the company has not indemnified or made a relevant agreement to 
indemnify the consolidated entity’s Auditor against a liability arising out of their conduct while acting as the consolidated 
entity’s Auditor.  In addition, the consolidated entity has not paid, or agreed to pay, a premium in respect of a contract 
insuring against a liability incurred by the consolidated entity’s Auditor.  

Proceedings 

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the consolidated entity or intervene in any 
proceedings to which the consolidated entity is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the 
consolidated entity for all or any part of those proceedings.  The consolidated entity was not a party to any such 
proceedings during the year. 

Environmental Issues 

The consolidated entity’s operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation under a law of the 
Commonwealth or of a State or Territory.  The consolidated entity promotes environmentally sustainable business 
practices across all its operations.  The company has a policy of providing a safe environment for its staff, customers and 
residents. 

Company Structure and Dividend Policy 

The company is a public company, limited by shares and guarantee: 

 No shares have been issued with respect to the company and the Directors have no present intention to issue 
shares or declare any dividends in the next financial year. 

 The guarantee provided by members acts as both the means of membership of the company and the means of 
limiting the members’ liability (the amount of each member’s guarantee is up to a maximum of $1). 

Options 

No options over interests in the consolidated entity were granted during or since the end of the financial year and there 
were no options outstanding at the date of this report. 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

The Auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 follows the 
Directors’ Report. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Dr Roger N Sexton AM 
Chairman 

Date:  28 September 2017 
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KeyInvest Ltd 
Statement of comprehensive income 
As at 30 June 2017 
 

  

    Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  Note  2017  2016  2017  2016 

    $  $  $  $ 
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Revenue  4  13,043,105  12,589,159   4,126,465   4,267,335  

  
Other income  5  5,169,828  4,352,462   3,084,156   3,022,822  

Total revenue    18,212,933  16,941,621   7,210,621   7,290,157  

  
Expenses           

Expenses  6  (18,732,154)  (16,484,526)  (7,107,478)  (6,968,694) 

Total expenses    (18,732,154)  (16,484,526)  (7,107,478)  (6,968,694) 

  
Surplus/(deficit) before income tax benefit    (519,221)  457,095   103,143   321,463  

  
Income tax benefit  7  132,063  229,711   353,910   357,241  

  
Life investment contracts  36         

Revenue    6,281,279  4,244,433  6,281,279  4,244,433 

Expenses    (6,310,039)  (4,291,667)  (6,310,039)  (4,291,667) 

Income tax expense    (657,914)  (226,561)  (657,914)  (226,561) 

Add back: deficit after income tax expense    686,674  273,795  686,674  273,795 
Life investment contracts contribution to profit, 
net of tax 

 
 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
Surplus/(deficit) after income tax benefit for the 
year 

 
 

 
(387,158) 

 
686,806 

 
457,053  

 
678,704  

  
Other comprehensive income           

           

Gain on acquisition of non-controlling interest    -    138,195   -    -   

  
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax    -    138,195   -    -   

  
Total comprehensive income for the year    (387,158)  825,001   457,053   678,704  

  
Surplus/(deficit) for the year is attributable to:           

Non-controlling interest    (190,383)  220,230   -    -   

Members of KeyInvest Ltd    (196,775)  466,576   457,053   678,704  

           

    (387,158)  686,806   457,053   678,704  

  
Total comprehensive income for the year is 
attributable to: 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Non-controlling interest    (190,383)  220,230   -    -   

Members of KeyInvest Ltd    (196,775)  604,771   457,053   678,704  

           

    (387,158)  825,001   457,053   678,704  
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Statement of financial position 
As at 30 June 2017 
 

  

    Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  Note  2017  2016  2017  2016 

    $  $  $  $ 

           

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.  KeyInvest Ltd Group Annual Report 2016/17       18 

Assets           

Cash and cash equivalents  8  2,161,959   629,155   1,346,403   95,347  

Available-for-sale financial assets  9  -    1,343,192   -    1,343,192  

Held-to-maturity financial assets  10  579,892   579,892   573,017   573,017  

Other investments  11  -    -    2,521,936   2,521,936  

Receivables  12  1,158,908   1,498,356   11,401,053   12,455,992  

Current tax assets  13  -    17,040   -    -   

Investment property  14  39,063,384   37,059,036   20,571,104   19,015,866  

Property, plant and equipment  15  2,713,005   2,836,884   512,105   1,010,244  

Life investment contracts policyholder assets  16  192,776,505   170,964,719   192,776,505   170,964,719  

Deferred tax assets  17  5,329,988   4,909,903   5,114,672   3,649,798  

Intangible assets  18  3,413,244   4,498,080   -    -   

           

Total assets    247,196,885   224,336,257   234,816,795   211,630,111  

  

Liabilities           

Payables  19  2,101,150   2,228,305   1,550,244   1,740,525  

Current tax liabilities  20  3,050   -    -    -   

Financial liabilities  21  6,893,926   5,742,474   2,500,000   1,500,000  

Provisions  22  3,155,448   3,495,271   3,001,456   3,354,601  

Life investment contracts policyholder liabilities  23  192,776,505   170,964,719   192,776,505   170,964,719  

Deferred tax liabilities  24  8,170,575   7,446,370   6,447,290   5,986,019  

           

Total liabilities    213,100,654   189,877,139   206,275,495   183,545,864  

  
Net assets    34,096,231   34,459,118   28,541,300   28,084,247  

  

Equity           

Asset revaluation reserve  25  193,477   -    -    -   

Retained earnings    31,057,061   31,253,840   28,541,300   28,084,247  

Equity attributable to the members of KeyInvest Ltd    31,250,538   31,253,840   28,541,300   28,084,247  

Non-controlling interest    2,845,693   3,205,278   -    -   

           

Total equity    34,096,231   34,459,118   28,541,300   28,084,247  
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Total equity  

 

Reserves 

 
Retained 
earnings 

 Non-
controlling 

interest 

 

Consolidated Entity  $  $  $  $ 

         

Balance at 1 July 2015  -  28,355,484   3,959,881   32,315,365  

         

Adjustment for correction of error (note 3)  -  2,293,585   -  2,293,585  

         

Balance at 1 July 2015 - restated  -  30,649,069   3,959,881   34,608,950  

         

Surplus after income tax benefit for the year  -  466,576   220,230   686,806  

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -  138,195   -  138,195  

         

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  604,771   220,230   825,001  

         

Disposal of non-controlling interest  -  -  (758,197)  (758,197) 

         

Dividends paid   -  -  (216,636)  (216,636) 

         

Balance at 30 June 2016  -  31,253,840   3,205,278   34,459,118  

  
        

Total equity  

 

Reserves 

 
Retained 
earnings 

 Non-
controlling 

interest 

 

Consolidated Entity  $  $  $  $ 

         

Balance at 1 July 2016  -  31,253,840   3,205,278   34,459,118  

         

Deficit after income tax benefit for the year  -  (196,775)  (190,383)  (387,158) 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -  -  -  -   

         

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  (196,775)  (190,383)  (387,158) 

         

Revaluation surplus reserve  193,473   -  -  193,473  

Dividends paid   -  -  (169,202)  (169,202) 

         

Balance at 30 June 2017  193,473   31,057,065   2,845,693   34,096,231  

  
    

Total equity  
 Retained 

earnings 
 

Parent Entity  $  $ 

     

Balance at 1 July 2015  24,828,775   24,828,775  

     

Adjustment for correction of error (note 3)  2,576,768   2,576,768  

     

Balance at 1 July 2015 - restated  27,405,543   27,405,543  

     

Surplus after income tax benefit for the year  678,704   678,704  

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -  -   

     

Total comprehensive income for the year  678,704   678,704  

     

Balance at 30 June 2016  28,084,247   28,084,247  
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Total equity  
 Retained 

earnings 
 

Parent Entity  $  $ 

     

Balance at 1 July 2016  28,084,247   28,084,247  

     

Surplus after income tax benefit for the year  457,053   457,053  

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -  -   

     

Total comprehensive income for the year  457,053   457,053  

     

Balance at 30 June 2017  28,541,300   28,541,300  
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Statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 
 

  

    Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  Note  2017  2016  2017  2016 

    $  $  $  $ 
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Cash flows from operating activities           

Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST)    13,296,676  12,287,198   3,050,301  2,565,786  
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of 
GST) 

 
 

 
(8,057,802) 

 
(12,053,529) 

 
(2,995,858) 

 
(4,462,135) 

           

    5,238,874  233,669   54,443  (1,896,349) 
Net receipts from issue of retirement village loans 
and licences 

 
 

 
1,386,500 

 
1,546,768  

 
711,250 

 
646,518  

Interest and investment management fee receipts    2,585,727  2,627,987   2,928,025  2,750,815  

Net GST recovered/(paid)    (144,765)  (124,259)  56,291  86,858  

Interest and other finance costs paid    (296,122)  (268,403)  (92,649)  (48,990) 

Income taxes recovered/(paid)    456,273  233,891   (649,693)  276,350  

           

Net cash from operating activities  34  9,226,487  4,249,653   3,007,667  1,815,202  

  

Cash flows from investing activities           

Purchase of business    -  (690,861)  -  -   

Proceeds from sale of investments    1,397,905  -  1,343,192  - 

Capital expenditure on retirement villages    (10,961,010)  (5,488,553)  (5,208,326)  (2,924,570) 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and 
equipment 

 
 

 
500,996 

 
- 

 
500,870 

 
- 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment    (215,110)  (362,203)  (186,727)  (311,387) 

Capital expenditure on buildings    (32,870)  (256,285)  (32,870)  (256,285) 
Proceeds from sale of retirement village buybacks 
and new units 

 
 

 
634,160 

 
378,325  

 
259,577 

 
246,040  

           

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities    (8,675,929)  (6,419,577)  (3,324,284)  (3,246,202) 

  

Cash flows from financing activities           

Dividends paid    (169,202)  (216,636)  -  -   

Proceeds from borrowings    4,963,186  3,385,463  2,500,000  1,900,000 

Repayment of borrowings    (3,811,738)  (1,622,813)  (1,500,000)  (400,000) 

Loans to subsidiaries    -  -  567,673  (174,359) 

           

Net cash from financing activities    982,246  1,546,014   1,567,673  1,325,641  

 
  

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
 

 
1,532,804   

 
(623,910) 

 
1,251,056   

 
(105,359) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
financial year 

 
 

 
629,155   

 
1,253,065  

 
95,347   

 
200,706  

           
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year 

 
8 

 
2,161,959   

 
629,155  

 
1,346,403   

 
95,347  
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Note 1. Significant accounting policies 

  
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out either in the 
respective notes or below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated. 

  
New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
The consolidated entity has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 

  
Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted. 

  
Basis of preparation 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations issued by the AASB, the Corporations Act 2001 and the Life Insurance Act 1995, as appropriate for 
complying entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

  
Historical cost convention 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for, where applicable, the 
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 
investment properties, certain classes of property, plant and equipment and derivative financial instruments. 

  
Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the consolidated entity's and company's accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2. 

  
Principles of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of KeyInvest Ltd 
('company' or 'parent entity') as at 30 June 2017 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. 
KeyInvest Ltd and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the 'consolidated entity'. 

  
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the consolidated entity has control. The consolidated entity controls an 
entity when the consolidated entity is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity 
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the consolidated entity. They are de-consolidated from the 
date that control ceases. 
 
A list of controlled entities is contained in note 31 to the financial statements. 
  
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the consolidated entity 
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the 
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with 
the policies adopted by the consolidated entity. 

  
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. A change in ownership 
interest, without the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the difference between the 
consideration transferred and the book value of the share of the non-controlling interest acquired is recognised directly 
in equity attributable to the parent. 

  
Non-controlling interest in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the Statement of 
comprehensive income, Statement of financial position and Statement of changes in equity of the consolidated entity. 
Losses incurred by the consolidated entity are attributed to the non-controlling interest in full, even if that results in a 
deficit balance. 

  
Where the consolidated entity loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities 
and non-controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity. 
The consolidated entity recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment 
retained together with any gain or loss in profit or loss. 

  
Interests in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the parent entity. Dividends received from 
subsidiaries are recognised as other income by the parent entity and its receipt may be an indicator of an impairment of 
the investment. 
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Change in prior year presentation 
The presentation of certain prior year amounts have been changed for consistency with the current period presentation. 
These changes to presentation had no effect on the reported results of operations. 
 
The company concluded that it was appropriate to present the life investment contract revenue, expenses and income 
tax separately in the Statement of comprehensive income. Previously life investment contract revenue, expenses and 
income tax was contained within the revenue, expenses and income tax of the consolidated entity. 

  
Investments and other financial assets 
Investments and other financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs are included as part of the 
initial measurement, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. They are subsequently measured at 
either amortised cost or fair value depending on their classification. Classification is determined based on the purpose 
of the acquisition and subsequent reclassification to other categories is restricted. 

  
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have 
been transferred and the consolidated entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

  
Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. They are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. 

  
Available-for-sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets, principally equity securities that are either 
designated as available-for-sale or not classified as any other category. After initial recognition, fair value movements 
are recognised in other comprehensive income through the available-for-sale reserve in equity. Cumulative gain or loss 
previously reported in the available-for-sale reserve is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or 
impaired. 

  
Held-to-maturity investments 
Held-to-maturity investments includes non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 
maturities where the consolidated entity has the positive intention and ability to hold the financial asset to maturity. This 
category excludes financial assets that are held for an undefined period. Held-to-maturity investments are carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method adjusted for any principal repayments. Gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. 

  
Impairment of financial assets 
The consolidated entity assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. Objective evidence includes significant financial difficulty of the 
issuer or obligor; a breach of contract such as default or delinquency in payments; the lender granting to a borrower 
concessions due to economic or legal reasons that the lender would not otherwise do; it becomes probable that the 
borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; the disappearance of an active market for the financial 
asset; or observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in estimated future cash flows. 

  
The amount of the impairment allowance for loans and receivables carried at amortised cost is the difference between 
the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective 
interest rate. If there is a reversal of impairment, the reversal cannot exceed the amortised cost that would have been 
recognised had the impairment not been made and is reversed to profit or loss. 

  
Available-for-sale financial assets are considered impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in 
value below initial cost. Subsequent increments in value are recognised in other comprehensive income through the 
available-for-sale reserve. 

  
Retirement villages 
The consolidated entity is involved in the construction and management of retirement villages. During acquisition and 
construction, retirement villages will be recognised at cost and when “units of account” are complete, or substantially 
complete, they are stated at fair value. The fair value represents the present value of future cash flows based upon 
statistical modelling of incoming and outgoing residents and includes assumptions in respect of a number of factors, 
such as average length of residence and expected changes in property prices. A “unit of account” for present value of 
future cash flow purposes is a stage of the retirement village development which comprises apportionment of land and 
infrastructure and complete or substantially complete dwellings. Land and work in progress available for future 
retirement village development are held at cost and tested for impairment.  
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The retirement villages are re-valued annually as at 30 June on the basis of a discounted cash flow evaluation of the 
consolidated entity’s ongoing interest in the retirement villages. These valuations are carried out by Certified Practising 
Valuers and by the consolidated entity's Directors in a cycle which results in each retirement village being 
independently valued by a Certified Practising Valuer every third year. The increment or decrement resulting from the 
valuation is added to or deducted from the retirement village asset account (note 14). The consolidated entity’s interest, 
net of residents’ interests, is shown in note 14 and the movement in the total increment or decrement resulting from the 
revaluation is reflected in the Statement of comprehensive income.  

  
The classification of land and work in progress within investment property reflects the nature and purpose of these 
assets in accordance with AASB 140, paragraph 8(e) which indicates such items should be classified within investment 
property as it is “property being constructed or developed for future use as investment property”.  

  
Long Term Maintenance Funds have been established from resident contributions for the purpose of maintenance, 
repair, replacement or renovation of large cost items generally with an effective life of more than one year. Capital 
Replacement Funds have been established from the retention of a percentage of the resident loan amount generally for 
the purpose of capital improvement, upgrade and maintenance of specific infrastructure.  

  
Impairment of non-financial assets 
Goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. 
Other non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

  
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use is 
the present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the 
asset or cash-generating unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are 
grouped together to form a CGU. 

  
Finance costs 
Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are expensed 
in the period in which they are incurred. 

  
Goods and services tax ('GST') and other similar taxes 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense. 

  
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the Statement of 
financial position. 

  
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 

  
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax 
authority. 

  
Tax consolidation 
KeyInvest Ltd and its wholly owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax consolidated group under tax 
consolidation legislation. Each entity in the tax consolidated group recognises its own current and deferred tax assets 
and liabilities. Such taxes are measured using the “stand alone taxpayer” approach to allocation. Current tax liabilities 
(assets) and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and tax credits in the subsidiaries are immediately 
transferred to the head entity. The group notified the Australian Taxation Office that it had formed an income tax 
consolidated group to apply from 1 July 2008. The tax consolidated group has entered a tax funding arrangement 
whereby each company in the group contributes to the income tax payable by the group in proportion to their 
contribution to the group’s taxable income. Differences between the amounts of net tax assets and liabilities 
derecognised and the net amounts recognised pursuant to the funding arrangement are recognised as either a 
contribution by, or distribution to, the head entity. 
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New accounting standards and interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet 
mandatory, have not been early adopted by the consolidated entity for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2017. 
The consolidated entity's assessment of the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations, most relevant to the consolidated entity, are set out below. 

  
AASB 9 Financial Instruments 
This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard replaces all 
previous versions of AASB 9 and completes the project to replace IAS 39 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement'. AASB 9 introduces new classification and measurement models for financial assets. A financial asset 
shall be measured at amortised cost, if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows, which arise on specified dates and solely principal and interest. All other financial 
instrument assets are to be classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss unless the entity makes an 
irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on equity instruments (that are not held-for-
trading) in other comprehensive income ('OCI'). For financial liabilities, the standard requires the portion of the change 
in fair value that relates to the entity's own credit risk to be presented in OCI (unless it would create an accounting 
mismatch). New simpler hedge accounting requirements are intended to more closely align the accounting treatment 
with the risk management activities of the entity. New impairment requirements will use an 'expected credit loss' ('ECL') 
model to recognise an allowance. Impairment will be measured under a 12-month ECL method unless the credit risk on 
a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition in which case the lifetime ECL method is 
adopted. The standard introduces additional new disclosures. The consolidated entity will adopt this standard from 
1 July 2018 but the impact of its adoption is yet to be assessed by the consolidated entity. 
  
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard provides a 
single standard for revenue recognition. The core principle of the standard is that an entity will recognise revenue to 
depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The standard will require: contracts (either written, 
verbal or implied) to be identified, together with the separate performance obligations within the contract; determine the 
transaction price, adjusted for the time value of money excluding credit risk; allocation of the transaction price to the 
separate performance obligations on a basis of relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service, or 
estimation approach if no distinct observable prices exist; and recognition of revenue when each performance 
obligation is satisfied. Credit risk will be presented separately as an expense rather than adjusted to revenue. For 
goods, the performance obligation would be satisfied when the customer obtains control of the goods. For services, the 
performance obligation is satisfied when the service has been provided, typically for promises to transfer services to 
customers. For performance obligations satisfied over time, an entity would select an appropriate measure of progress 
to determine how much revenue should be recognised as the performance obligation is satisfied. Contracts with 
customers will be presented in an entity's Statement of financial position as a contract liability, a contract asset, or a 
receivable, depending on the relationship between the entity's performance and the customer's payment. Sufficient 
quantitative and qualitative disclosure is required to enable users to understand the contracts with customers; the 
significant judgements made in applying the guidance to those contracts; and any assets recognised from the costs to 
obtain or fulfil a contract with a customer. The consolidated entity will adopt this standard from 1 July 2018 but the 
impact of its adoption is yet to be assessed by the consolidated entity. 
  
AASB 16 Leases 
This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The standard replaces 
AASB 117 'Leases' and for lessees will eliminate the classifications of operating leases and finance leases. Subject to 
exceptions, a 'right-of-use' asset will be capitalised in the Statement of financial position, measured at the present value 
of the unavoidable future lease payments to be made over the lease term. The exceptions relate to short-term leases of 
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets (such as personal computers and small office furniture) where an 
accounting policy choice exists whereby either a 'right-of-use' asset is recognised or lease payments are expensed to 
profit or loss as incurred. A liability corresponding to the capitalised lease will also be recognised, adjusted for lease 
prepayments, lease incentives received, initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of any future restoration, removal 
or dismantling costs. Straight-line operating lease expense recognition will be replaced with a depreciation charge for 
the leased asset (included in operating costs) and an interest expense on the recognised lease liability (included in 
finance costs). In the earlier periods of the lease, the expenses associated with the lease under AASB 16 will be higher 
when compared to lease expenses under AASB 117. However EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation 
and Amortisation) results will be improved as the operating expense is replaced by interest expense and depreciation in 
profit or loss under AASB 16. For classification within the Statement of cash flows, the lease payments will be 
separated into both a principal (financing activities) and interest (either operating or financing activities) component. For 
lessor accounting, the standard does not substantially change how a lessor accounts for leases. The consolidated 
entity will adopt this standard from 1 July 2019 but the impact of its adoption is yet to be assessed by the consolidated 
entity. 
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Life business - disclosure 
The financial statements recognise the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the life insurance business 
conducted by the consolidated entity in accordance with AASB 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement and AASB 1038: Life Insurance Contracts which apply to investment contracts and assets backing 
insurance liabilities respectively. These amounts represent the total life business of the consolidated entity.  

  
Restriction on assets 
Assets held in the life funds can only be used within the restrictions imposed under the Life Insurance Act 1995. The 
main restrictions are that the assets in a fund can only be used to meet the liabilities and expenses of the fund, acquire 
investments to further the business of the fund or pay distributions when capital adequacy requirements allow. 
Policyholders can only receive a distribution when the capital adequacy requirements of the Life Insurance Act 1995 are 
met. 

  
Policy liabilities 
Life insurance liabilities are measured as the accumulated benefits to policyholders in accordance with AASB 139 and 
AASB 1038, which apply to investment contracts and assets backing insurance liabilities respectively. 

  
Investment assets 
Investment assets are carried at fair value through profit and loss. Fair value is determined based on current bid prices 
for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are applied to determine the fair value of all unlisted securities, 
including recent arm’s length transactions, reference to similar instruments and option pricing models. Changes in fair 
values are recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income in the financial period in which the changes occur.  

 

Note 2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

  
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and 
estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its 
judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of 
future events, management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements 
and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective 
notes) within the next financial year are discussed below. 

  
Fair value measurement hierarchy 
The consolidated entity is required to classify all assets and liabilities, measured at fair value, using a three level 
hierarchy, based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being: 
 
Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the 

measurement date; 
Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly or indirectly; and 
Level 3:  unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

 
Considerable judgement is required to determine what is significant to fair value and therefore which category the asset 
or liability is placed in can be subjective. 
  
The fair value of assets and liabilities classified as level 3 is determined by the use of valuation models. These include 
discounted cash flow analysis or the use of observable inputs that require significant adjustments based on 
unobservable inputs. 

  
Estimation of useful lives of assets 
The consolidated entity determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its 
property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result of 
technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the useful 
lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned 
or sold will be written off or written down. 
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Goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets 
The consolidated entity tests annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate impairment, 
whether goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets have suffered any impairment, in accordance with the 
accounting policy stated in note 1. The recoverable amounts of CGU’s have been determined based on the higher of 
fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of assumptions, including 
estimated discount rates based on the current cost of capital and growth rates of the estimated future cash flows. 

  
Investment property 
Investment property comprises a freehold office building and retirement villages. The office building is held to generate 
long-term rental yields and the retirement villages are held to provide long-term revenue from deferred management 
fees and development margins. All tenant leases and loan contracts are on an arm’s length basis. Investment property 
is carried at fair value, determined annually by independent valuers. Changes to fair value are recorded in the 
Statement of comprehensive income. 
 
In accounting for its retirement villages in accordance with AASB 140: Investment property, the consolidated entity 
defines an investment property unit of account to represent a stage of retirement village development. 

  
Income tax 
The consolidated entity is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant judgement is 
required in determining the provision for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during 
the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The consolidated entity recognises 
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on the consolidated entity's current understanding of the tax law. Where 
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the carrying amounts, such differences will impact the current 
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 

  
Recovery of deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the consolidated entity considers it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

  
Employee benefits provision 
As discussed in the Provision note, the liability for employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months from 
the reporting date are recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made in 
respect of all employees at the reporting date. In determining the present value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates 
and pay increases through promotion and inflation have been taken into account. 
 
 
Note 3. Restatement of comparatives 

 
Correction of error 
During the year, a detailed review of retirement village tax treatments was performed which identified errors in the 
calculation of income tax expense, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities. 
 
The nature of the errors related to allowable deductions for exiting resident payments and other tax cost base changes 
relating to depreciation and capital costs. 
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Note 3. Restatement of comparatives (continued) 
 
The amount of the correction for each financial statement line item affected is outlined below: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Note 4. Revenue 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Commission from lending activities  8,070,878   7,544,016   29,531   34,985  

Management fees  2,907,205   2,931,804   2,907,205   2,931,804  

Dividends from related entities  -    -    176,798   226,363  

Interest revenue  20,544   25,080   18,286   18,459  

Distribution from non-related entities  23,818   163,166   23,818   163,166  
Deferred management fees and development margin on 
sale of retirement village loans and licences 

 
2,020,660  

 
1,925,093  

 
970,827  

 
892,558  

         

Revenue  13,043,105   12,589,159   4,126,465   4,267,335  

  
Accounting policy for revenue recognition 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

  
Commission revenue 
Origination commission arising from loan settlements is brought to account once the provision of service has occurred, 
generally in the month following settlement. 

  
Management fees 
The parent entity receives various fees from the life investment contracts. These fees are recognised and brought to 
account in accordance with the rules of the respective benefit funds and the KeyInvest Ltd constitution. 

  
Interest 
Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective 
interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 

  
Retirement village unit sales 
Revenue on sales of retirement village units and apartments are recognised on the execution of a loan contract and 
receipt of the loan proceeds. 

   

Consolidated 

Entity

$

Parent

Entity

$

Consolidated 

Entity

$

Parent

Entity

$

Consolidated 

Entity

$

Parent

Entity

$

Deferred tax assets 4,079,838 3,513,400 830,065 136,398 4,909,903 3,649,798 

Total assets 223,506,192 211,493,713 830,065 136,398 224,336,257 211,630,111 

Deferred tax liabilities 8,909,890 8,426,389 (1,463,520) (2,440,370) 7,446,370 5,986,019 

Total liabilities 191,340,659 185,986,234 (1,463,520) (2,440,370) 189,877,139 183,545,864 

Net assets 32,165,533 25,507,479 2,293,585 2,576,768 34,459,118 28,084,247 

Retained earnings 28,960,255 25,507,479 2,293,585 2,576,768 31,253,840 28,084,247 

Equity - parent interest 28,960,255 25,507,479 2,293,585 2,576,768 31,253,840 28,084,247 

Total equity 32,165,533 25,507,479 2,293,585 2,576,768 34,459,118 28,084,247 

30 June 2016 Reported Adjustment 30 June 2016 Restated
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Note 5. Other income 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Unrealised gains (losses) on investments  94,980   (14,255)  94,980   (14,255) 

Realised gains (losses) on investments  135,759   (128,588)  135,759   (128,588) 

Surplus from revaluation of investment properties  1,218,614   827,036   446,465   894,108  

Rental income  662,611   640,980   633,811   612,180  

Accommodation fees from retirement village residents  1,977,072   1,888,472   1,085,799   1,049,609  

Other  1,080,792   1,138,817   687,342   609,768  

         

Other income  5,169,828   4,352,462   3,084,156   3,022,822  

  
Property rental 
Rental income from tenancy leases is recognised on an accruals basis. Any lease incentives are usually provided via 
rental holidays or rental discounts. Rental, or maintenance fees, from retirement village residents, is brought to account 
over the period of accommodation. 

  
Income from sale of property, plant and equipment 
The profit or loss on the sale of property, plant and equipment used for operational purposes is recognised upon the 
sale of the asset. 
  
 

Note 6. Expenses 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Audit fees  73,458   74,242   60,778   62,705  

Actuarial fees  43,743   59,374   34,117   49,000  

Depreciation  237,993   218,030   183,996   192,211  

Regulatory supervision fees  15,475   12,467   15,475   12,467  

Salaries, wages and on costs  3,865,031   3,784,366   2,090,843   2,068,200  

Employee benefits  361,010   306,476   253,877   227,881  

Superannuation contributions  366,960   343,939   209,652   200,324  

Commissions  6,212,777   5,668,532   168,767   110,963  

Impairment and revaluations  1,291,754   126,285   -    106,285  

Outsourced arrangements  680,060   754,733   680,060   754,733  

Rates and taxes  1,010,880   1,029,961   632,012   636,893  

Marketing  644,420   430,340   317,305   182,450  

Other operating expenses  3,928,593   3,675,781   2,460,596   2,364,582  

         

  18,732,154   16,484,526   7,107,478   6,968,694  
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Note 7. Income tax benefit 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Income tax benefit         

Current tax  (1,344,737)  (1,315,660)  (952,530)  (1,253,906) 

Deferred tax  1,212,674   1,085,949   598,620   896,665  

         

Aggregate income tax benefit  (132,063)  (229,711)  (353,910)  (357,241) 

         
Numerical reconciliation of income tax benefit and tax at 
the statutory rate 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Surplus/(deficit) before income tax benefit  (519,221)  457,095   103,143   321,463  

         

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 30%  (155,766)  137,129   30,943   96,439  

         
Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in 
calculating taxable income: 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Non-assessable income  79,626   99,425   26,586   15,237  

Other assessable amounts  26,808   21,789   26,808   21,789  

Impairment adjustments  309,037   -    -    -   

Net adjustments arising from retirement villages  (17,090)  (204,943)  (45,418)  (190,105) 

Net adjustments arising from life investment contracts  (122,459)  (94,817)  (122,459)  (94,817) 

Non-deductible expenditure  (172,552)  (75,113)  (190,703)  (92,603) 

Imputation credits  (79,667)  (113,181)  (79,667)  (113,181) 

         

Income tax benefit  (132,063)  (229,711)  (353,910)  (357,241) 

  
  

Note 8. Cash and cash equivalents 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Cash at bank and in hand  160,414   157,981   87,728   95,347  

Short-term money market  2,001,545   471,174   1,258,675   -   

         

  2,161,959   629,155   1,346,403   95,347  

         

0-3 months  2,161,959   629,155   1,346,403   95,347  

  
Accounting policy for cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
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Note 9. Available-for-sale financial assets 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Units in unit trusts  -    1,343,192   -    1,343,192  

         

Amount expected to be recovered within 12 months  -    1,343,192   -    1,343,192  

  
Refer to note 27 for further information on fair value measurement. 

  
Available-for-sale financial assets comprise investments in the ordinary issued capital of various entities and units in 
unit trusts. There are no fixed returns or fixed maturity dates attached to these investments. 

  
  

Note 10. Held-to-maturity financial assets 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Term deposits  579,892   579,892   573,017   573,017  

         

Amount expected to be recovered within 12 months  573,017   573,017   573,017   573,017  
Amount expected to be recovered after more than 
12 months 

 
6,875  

 
6,875  

 
-   

 
-   

         

  579,892   579,892   573,017   573,017  

  
Refer to note 27 for further information on fair value measurement. 

  
  

Note 11. Other investments 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Shares in controlled entities  -    -    2,521,936   2,521,936  

         
Amount expected to be recovered after more than 
12 months 

 
-   

 
-   

 
2,521,936  

 
2,521,936  
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Note 12. Receivables 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Prepayments  38,129   108,609   23,060   88,628  

Loans to controlled entities - unsecured  -    -    10,970,006   11,443,248  

Receivable from life funds  948,071   849,412   390,831   636,762  

Interest and distributions receivable  3,161   145,205   3,027   145,037  

Other  169,547   395,130   14,129   142,317  

         

  1,158,908   1,498,356   11,401,053   12,455,992  

         

Amount expected to be recovered within 12 months  1,158,908   1,498,356   11,401,053   12,455,992  
Amount expected to be recovered after more than 
12 months 

 
-   

 
-   

 
- 

 
-   

         

  1,158,908   1,498,356   11,401,053   12,455,992  

  
  

Note 13. Current tax assets 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Current tax assets  -    17,040   -    -   

         

Amount expected to be recovered within 12 months  -    17,040   -    -   
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Note 14. Investment property 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Land and buildings - opening balance  5,850,000   5,700,000   5,850,000   5,700,000  

Acquisitions, additions and disposals  32,870   256,285   32,870   256,285  

Fair value adjustments  -    (106,285)  -    (106,285) 

  5,882,870   5,850,000   5,882,870   5,850,000  

         

Retirement villages - opening balance  21,498,000   20,474,001   9,498,000   9,655,000  

Additions  3,988,776  3,980,619  2,008,132  1,704,010 

Revaluation - consolidated entity’s interests  (1,937,562)  (752,746)  (952,912)  (657,346) 

Revaluation - residents’ interests  (7,802,430)  (3,523,754)  (3,085,079)  (1,594,654) 

Transfer from undeveloped land  573,236   363,210   209,921   41,984  

Transfer from work in progress  4,662,327  349,843  1,877,552  56,237 

Fair value adjustments  540,655   606,827   316,387   292,769  

  21,523,002   21,498,000   9,872,001   9,498,000  

         

Retirement villages - undeveloped land - opening balance  6,032,305   6,300,000   1,847,305   1,845,000  

Transfer to retirement villages  (573,236)  (363,210)  (209,921)  (41,984) 

Fair value adjustments  58,316   95,515   -    44,289  

  5,517,385   6,032,305   1,637,384   1,847,305  

         

Retirement villages - work in progress - opening balance  3,678,731   2,415,946   1,820,561   645,000  

Acquisitions, additions and disposals  6,972,234   1,507,934   3,200,192   1,220,560  

Transfer to retirement villages  (4,662,327)  (349,843)  (1,877,552)  (56,237) 

Fair value adjustments  151,489   104,694   35,648   11,238  

  6,140,127   3,678,731   3,178,849   1,820,561  

         

  39,063,384   37,059,036   20,571,104   19,015,866  

         

Reconciliation         
Reconciliation of the fair values at the beginning and end of 
the current and previous financial year are set out below: 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

         

Opening fair value  37,059,036   34,889,947   19,015,866   17,845,000  

Additions  10,993,880   5,744,838   5,241,194   3,180,855  

Revaluation increments  750,459   807,036   352,035   348,296  

Revaluation decrements  (9,739,991)  (4,382,785)  (4,037,991)  (2,358,285) 

         

Closing fair value  39,063,384   37,059,036   20,571,104   19,015,866  

  

Retirement villages         

Investment in the retirement villages as at 30 June was:         

         

Development and acquisition costs  117,014,811   109,869,404   53,337,705   50,511,669  

Add: revaluation         

- consolidated entity’s interests  7,052,828  6,512,172  6,569,419  6,253,031 

- residents’ interests    (6,351,338)   (6,492,705)   (2,932,248)   (3,248,904)  

  117,716,301   109,888,871   56,974,876   53,515,796  

Less: residents’ loans and licences  (96,193,299)  (88,390,871)  (47,102,875)  (44,017,796) 

Total units of account at fair value  21,523,002  21,498,000  9,872,001  9,498,000 

Total at cost (after testing for impairment)         

+ undeveloped land  5,517,385  6,032,305  1,637,384  1,847,305 

+ work in progress  6,140,127  3,678,731  3,178,849  1,820,561 

         

Total net investment  33,180,514   31,209,036   14,688,234  13,165,866  
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Valuations of investment properties 
The 2017 valuations were conducted by external accredited independent valuer Knight Frank Valuations and by the 
consolidated entity's Directors. Investment properties are stated at fair value. Where the Directors determine a 
property’s value a reasonable fair value estimate as applicable to each type of investment property is used. Fair value 
for completed retirement villages valued by the consolidated entity’s Directors is determined using a financial model 
which calculates the net present value of future cash flows. The financial model incorporates information including: 
 
(i)  current prices in an active market for properties of a similar nature; and 
(ii)  resident turnover rates based on business experience including the expected average length of residence based 
 on mortality assumptions and voluntary turnover, average incoming ages and distributions. 
  
Refer to note 27 for further information on fair value measurement. 
  
 

Note 15. Property, plant and equipment 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Land and buildings - at independent valuation  2,178,000   1,778,000   -  -   

Land and buildings - at cost  -    484,821   -  484,821  

Less: accumulated depreciation  (78,000)  (78,000)  -  -   

  2,100,000   2,184,821   -  484,821  

         

Furniture, equipment and software - at cost  1,932,607   1,890,134   1,717,893  1,677,529  

Less: accumulated depreciation  (1,381,225)  (1,289,143)  (1,244,012)  (1,172,986) 

  551,382   600,991   473,881   504,543  

         

Motor vehicles - at cost  104,189   111,948   72,197   79,956  

Less: accumulated depreciation  (42,566)  (60,876)  (33,973)  (59,076) 

  61,623   51,072   38,224   20,880  

         

  2,713,005   2,836,884   512,105   1,010,244  

         
Amount expected to be recovered after more than 
12 months 

 
2,713,005  

 
2,836,884  

 
512,105  

 
1,010,244  
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Reconciliations 
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set 
out below: 

  

 

 

Land and 
buildings 

 Furniture, 
equipment 

and 
software 

 

Motor 
vehicles 

 

Total 

Consolidated Entity  $  $  $  $ 

         

Balance at 1 July 2015  2,183,831   517,729   26,942   2,728,502  

Additions  990   329,221   31,992   362,203  

Disposals  -  (35,791)  -  (35,791) 

Depreciation expense  -  (210,168)  (7,862)  (218,030) 

         

Balance at 30 June 2016  2,184,821   600,991   51,072   2,836,884  

Additions  -  176,403   38,707   215,110  

Disposals  (484,821)  (5,910)  (10,265)  (500,996) 

Revaluation increments  400,000   -  -  400,000  

Depreciation expense  -  (220,102)  (17,891)  (237,993) 

         

Balance at 30 June 2017  2,100,000   551,382   61,623   2,713,005  

  

 

 

Land and 
buildings 

 Furniture, 
equipment 

and 
software 

 

Motor 
vehicles 

 

Total 

Parent Entity  $  $  $  $ 

         

Balance at 1 July 2015  483,831   416,046   26,942   926,819  

Additions  990   310,397   -  311,387  

Disposals  -  (35,751)  -  (35,751) 

Depreciation expense  -  (186,149)  (6,062)  (192,211) 

         

Balance at 30 June 2016  484,821   504,543   20,880   1,010,244  

Additions  -  172,007   38,707   210,714  

Disposals  (484,821)  (5,783)  (10,266)  (500,870) 

Depreciation expense  -  (196,886)  (11,097)  (207,983) 

         

Balance at 30 June 2017  -  473,881   38,224   512,105  

  
Valuations of land and buildings 
The consolidated entity periodically engages independent accredited valuers to determine the fair value of the land and 
buildings classified as property, plant and equipment. The 2017 valuations were conducted by external accredited 
independent valuer CBRE Valuations Pty Limited.  

  
Refer to note 27 for further information on fair value measurement. 

  
Accounting policy for property, plant and equipment 
Land and buildings are shown at fair value based on periodic valuations by external independent valuers, less 
subsequent depreciation and impairment for buildings. The valuations are undertaken more frequently if there is a 
material change in the fair value relative to the carrying amount. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of 
revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued 
amount of the asset. Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited in other 
comprehensive income through to the revaluation surplus reserve in equity. Any revaluation decrements are initially 
taken in other comprehensive income through to the revaluation surplus reserve to the extent of any previous 
revaluation surplus of the same asset. Thereafter the decrements are taken to profit or loss. 

  
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
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Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and equipment 
(excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows: 

  
Buildings  2.5% 

Office equipment  3% to 40% 

Furniture and fittings  1% to 18% 

  
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting 
date. 

  
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to 
the consolidated entity. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or 
loss. Any revaluation surplus reserve relating to the item disposed of is transferred directly to retained profits. 

  
  

Note 16. Life investment contracts policyholder assets 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Supersaver Bond Fund  31,233,539   34,598,943   31,233,539   34,598,943  

Life Events Bond Funds  16,155,832   10,353,006   16,155,832   10,353,006  

Pre-Arranged Funeral Fund  32,102,758   35,415,459   32,102,758   35,415,459  

KeyInvest Funeral Bond  110,392,242   87,239,783   110,392,242   87,239,783  

Income Security Fund  2,892,134   3,357,528   2,892,134   3,357,528  

         

  192,776,505   170,964,719   192,776,505   170,964,719  

         
 

Refer to note 27 for further information on fair value measurement. 

  
Life Events Bond Funds 
Effective 22 April 2016 the structure of the Life Events Bond Fund changed from a single fund with multiple investment 
options to 27 approved benefit funds. The 27 Life Events Bond Funds are disclosed herein as a consolidated entity. 

  
Actuarial report 
The effective date of the actuarial report on the policy liabilities and solvency reserves is 30 June 2017. The actuarial 
report for KeyInvest Ltd was prepared by Mr Bruce Watson, FIAA, and was dated 25 September 2017. The appointed 
actuary is satisfied as to the accuracy of the data upon which the policy liabilities have been determined. 

  
Refer to note 36 for further information on life investment contracts. 
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Note 17. Deferred tax assets 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Deferred tax asset  5,329,988   4,909,903   5,114,672   3,649,798  

         

Movements:         

Opening balance  4,909,903   3,238,016   3,649,798   2,622,711  

Valuation adjustments  (265,580)  829,905   733,012   136,238  

Carry forward tax losses  908,558   977,842   908,558   977,842  

Employee benefit and payables movement  (222,893)  (135,860)  (176,696)  (86,993) 

         

Closing balance  5,329,988   4,909,903   5,114,672   3,649,798  

  
  

Note 18. Intangible assets 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Goodwill - at cost  5,374,876   5,429,589   -    -   

Less: impairment  (1,961,632)  (931,509)  -    -   

         

  3,413,244   4,498,080   -    -   

         
Amount expected to be recovered after more than 
12 months 

 
3,413,244  

 
4,498,080  

 
-   

 
-   

  
Reconciliations 
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set 
out below: 

  
  Goodwill  Total 

Consolidated Entity  $  $ 

     

Balance at 1 July 2015  4,427,179   4,427,179  

Additions  70,901   70,901  

     

Balance at 30 June 2016  4,498,080   4,498,080  

Disposals  (54,713)  (54,713) 

Impairment of assets  (1,030,123)  (1,030,123) 

     

Balance at 30 June 2017  3,413,244   3,413,244  

  
Impairment testing of goodwill 
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to CGU’s, with 100% being allocated to the Lending 
Services division. The recoverable amount of the CGU's are determined based on the higher of fair value less costs to 
sell and value-in-use by reference to the discounted net cash flows expected to be derived from the continuing use of 
the asset. The future cash flows are based on financial budgets and projections approved by management covering a 
five year period. 

  
Discount rate 
The discount rate applied to future cash flows for 2017 is 10% (2016: 10%). The discount rate reflects the Lending 
Services division's weighted average cost of capital including the risks specific to the CGU. 
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Note 19. Payables 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Trade creditors  756,704   892,715   712,037   843,785  

Creditors and accrued expenses  53,800   366,041   67,750   208,108  

Accrued expenses  428,572   316,776   348,535   308,367  

Retirement village maintenance fund liabilities  862,074   652,773   421,922   380,265  

         

  2,101,150   2,228,305   1,550,244   1,740,525  

         

Amount expected to be settled within 12 months  2,101,150   2,228,305   1,550,244   1,740,525  

  
Refer to note 26 for further information on financial risk management. 

  
Accounting policy for trade and other payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of the 
financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not 
discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

  
  

Note 20. Current tax liabilities 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Provision for income tax  3,050   -    -    -   

         

Amount expected to be settled within 12 months  3,050   -    -    -   

  
  

Note 21. Financial liabilities 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Bank loans - secured  6,893,926   5,742,474   2,500,000   1,500,000  

         

Amount expected to be settled within 12 months  6,878,307   4,218,038   2,500,000   -   

Amount expected to be settled after more than 12 months  15,619   1,524,436   -    1,500,000  

         

  6,893,926   5,742,474   2,500,000   1,500,000  

  
Refer to note 26 for further information on financial risk management. 

  
Total secured liabilities 
The total secured liabilities are as follows: 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Bank loans - secured  6,893,926   5,742,474   2,500,000   1,500,000  
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Loan facilities 
Bank loans are secured by registered first mortgages over investment and freehold properties and a registered charge 
over the assets and undertakings of consolidated entities. 
 
The loan facilities include a $0.8m line of credit, a $6.5m fixed term facility maturing March 2018, a $5m loan facility 
maturing May 2018 and a chattel mortgage of $35k due April 2019. 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Total facilities         

Bank loans  12,335,000   12,037,823   5,000,000   5,000,000  

         

Used at the reporting date         

Bank loans  6,893,926   5,742,474   2,500,000   1,500,000  

         

Unused at the reporting date         

Bank loans  5,441,074   6,295,349   2,500,000   3,500,000  

  
Accounting policy for borrowings 
Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction costs. 
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

  

Note 22. Provisions 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Annual leave  281,193   286,584   218,119   218,959  

Long service leave  461,785   410,810   370,867   337,765  

Unearned income  2,412,470   2,797,877   2,412,470   2,797,877  

         

  3,155,448   3,495,271   3,001,456   3,354,601  

         

Amount expected to be settled within 12 months  627,835   542,520   489,930   818,734  

Amount expected to be settled after more than 12 months  2,527,613   2,952,751   2,511,526   2,535,867  

         

  3,155,448   3,495,271   3,001,456   3,354,601  

  
Short-term employee benefits 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to be 
settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled. 
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Movements in provisions 
Movements in each class of provision during the current financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below: 

  

 
 Unearned 

income 

Consolidated Entity - 2017  $ 

   

Carrying amount at the start of the year  2,797,877  

Amounts used  (385,407) 

   

Carrying amount at the end of the year  2,412,470  

  

 
 Unearned 

income 

Parent Entity - 2017  $ 

   

Carrying amount at the start of the year  2,797,877  

Amounts used  (385,407) 

   

Carrying amount at the end of the year  2,412,470  

  
Accounting policy for provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a 
past event, it is probable the consolidated entity will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration 
required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 
the obligation. If the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate specific to 
the liability. The increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

  
Accounting policy for other long-term employee benefits 
The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date 
are measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency 
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
 

  

Note 23. Life investment contracts policyholder liabilities 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Supersaver Bond Fund  31,233,539   34,598,943   31,233,539   34,598,943  

Life Events Bond Funds  16,155,832   10,353,006   16,155,832   10,353,006  

Pre-Arranged Funeral Fund  32,102,758   35,415,459   32,102,758   35,415,459  

KeyInvest Funeral Fund  110,392,242   87,239,783   110,392,242   87,239,783  

Income Security Fund  2,892,134   3,357,528   2,892,134   3,357,528  

         

  192,776,505   170,964,719   192,776,505   170,964,719  

         
Refer to note 36 for further information on life investment contracts. 
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Note 24. Deferred tax liabilities 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Deferred tax liability  8,170,575   7,446,370   6,447,290   5,986,019  

         

Movements:         

Opening balance  7,446,370   7,959,678   5,986,019   7,616,591  

Valuation adjustments  724,205   (513,308)  461,271   (1,630,572) 

         

Closing balance  8,170,575   7,446,370   6,447,290   5,986,019  

  
  

Note 25. Asset revaluation reserve 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Asset revaluation reserve  193,477   -    -    -   

  
Asset revaluation reserve 
The reserve is used to recognise increments and decrements in the fair value of land and buildings, excluding 
investment properties. 

  
Movements in reserves 
Movements in each class of reserve during the current and previous financial year are set out below: 

  

 

 Asset 
revaluation 

reserve 

 

Total 

Consolidated Entity  $  $ 

     

Balance at 1 July 2015  -  -   

     

Balance at 30 June 2016  -  -   

Revaluation - gross  193,477   193,477  

     

Balance at 30 June 2017  193,477   193,477  

 
 

Note 26. Financial risk management 

  
a. Financial risk management policies 
Insurance contracts (Statutory Funds) as defined in AASB 4: Insurance Contracts are exempted from disclosure 
requirements under AASB7: Financial Instruments Disclosures. Financial risk management disclosures in this note 
relate to the consolidated entity's financial instruments only. 
 
The consolidated entity complies with the APRA Prudential Standard - Capital Adequacy LPS 110 which prescribes 
specific reserves to be established to meet a wide range of adverse but plausible conditions including the requirement 
that the consolidated entity be able to meet its obligations in respect of any business it carries on that is not life 
insurance business as those obligations fall due.  
 
The consolidated entity's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks and local money markets, short-
term investments, listed shares, unlisted unit trusts and accounts receivable and payable. 
 
The main purpose of non-derivative financial instruments is to manage capital for consolidated entity operations. The 
consolidated entity does not have any derivative instruments at 30 June 2017. 
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Investment risk management:  On a regular basis the Management Investment Committee assesses and evaluates 
financial risk exposure and investment management strategies in the context of the most recent economic conditions 
and forecasts. 
 
Management's overall risk management strategy seeks to assist the consolidated entity in meeting its strategic goals 
and financial targets, whilst minimising potential adverse effect on financial performance. 
 
The Management Investment Committee operates under the policies approved by the Board of Directors. Risk 
Management policies are approved and reviewed by the Board on a regular basis. These policies cover market, credit 
and liquidity risk. 
  
Financial risk exposures and management:  The main risks the consolidated entity is exposed to through the 
financial instruments are market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 

  
Liquidity risk:  Liquidity risk is the risk that the consolidated entity is unable to promptly meet its obligations as they fall 
due. 
 
The consolidated entity manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows modelled on a 12 month time frame 
and applying limits to concentration of illiquid assets and counterparties. Non-committed capital is assessed regularly to 
determine the liquidity profile. 

  
Market risk:  Market risk is the risk that the value of assets of the consolidated entity will decline as a result of changes 
in market conditions. The consolidated entity is exposed to the following risks: 

  
Price Risk - Equities:  The consolidated entity's exposure to changes in the price and volatility of individual equities and 
equity indices affect the value of investments in financial assets held by the consolidated entity. This risk is primarily 
managed by investment diversification. For further details on equity price risk refer to section d later in this note. 

  
Interest rate:  Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of financial assets will fluctuate due to movements in interest 
rate and credit markets. The consolidated entity mitigates its exposure to interest rate risk by maintaining predominantly 
liquid financial assets and limited exposure to fixed interest loans. Interest rate risk also refers to the risk to earnings 
and capital arising from movements in interest rates in respect of borrowings. At 30 June 2017 the consolidated entity 
had borrowings of $6,893,926 (2016: $5,742,474). For further details on interest rate risk refer to section d later in this 
note. 

  
Credit risk:  Credit risk is the risk of counterparty default resulting in financial loss to the consolidated entity. The 
maximum exposure of the consolidated entity to credit risk, at balance date, to assets that have been recognised in the 
Statement of financial position, is the carrying amount, net of any allowance for impairment of those assets. 
 
The consolidated entity's credit risk arises from exposure to deposits with financial institutions. The Management 
Investment Committee, which reports to the Board, reviews credit risk regularly taking into account rating quality and 
liquidity of counterparties. 
 
The majority of the consolidated entity's short-term deposits are held with APRA regulated financial institutions. Unlisted 
available-for-sale financial assets are not rated by external credit agencies. These are reviewed regularly to ensure that 
credit exposure is minimised. 
 
The table reflects the credit risk of the consolidated entity's receivables. 
  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Receivables         

A1+ rated counterparties  3,161   145,205   3,027   145,037  

Counterparties not rated  207,676   503,739   37,189   230,945  

Internal receivable from life funds  948,071   849,412   390,831   636,762  

         

Total  1,158,908   1,498,356   431,047   1,012,744  
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b Financial instruments composition and maturity analysis:  The tables below reflect the undiscounted 

contractual settlement terms for financial instruments of a fixed period to maturity, as well as 

management's expectations of the settlement period for all other financial instruments. For this reason, the 

amounts may not reconcile to the Statement of financial position. 

  

 

Consolidated Entity 

2017 

$  

                      

 

Financial instruments Fixed 

interest 

rate  

1 year  

or less   

Fixed 

interest 

rate  

1-5 

years   

Variable 

interest 

rate 

  

Non-

interest 

bearing 

  

Total 

 

 Financial assets           

 Cash assets -   -   2,161,959   -   2,161,959   

 Term deposits 573,017   6,875   -   -   579,892  

 Receivables -   -   -   1,158,908  1,158,908  

 Total financial assets 573,017   6,875   2,161,959   1,158,908  3,900,759  

            

 Financial liabilities           

 Payables -   -   -   2,101,150   2,101,150   

 Bank loans secured -   24,435   6,869,491   -   6,893,926   

 Total financial liabilities -   24,435   6,869,491   2,101,150   8,995,076   

            

            

 

Parent Entity 

2017 

$  
            

 

Financial instruments Fixed 

interest 

rate  

1 year  

or less   

Fixed 

interest 

rate  

1-5 

years   

Variable 

interest 

rate 

  

Non-

interest 

bearing 

  

Total 

 

 Financial Assets           

 Cash assets -   -   1,346,403   -   1,346,403   

 Term deposits 573,017   -   -   -   573,017   

 Shares in controlled entities -   -   -   2,521,936   2,521,936   

 Loans to controlled entities -   -   -   11,663,672   11,663,672   

 Receivables -   -   -   431,047   431,047  

 Total financial assets 573,017   -   1,346,403   14,616,655  16,536,075  

            

 Financial liabilities           

 Payables -   -   -   1,550,244   1,550,244  
 Bank loans secured -  -  2,500,000  -  2,500,000  

 Total financial liabilities -   -   2,500,000   1,550,244   4,050,244  
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b Financial instruments composition and maturity analysis:  The tables below reflect the undiscounted 

contractual settlement terms for financial instruments of a fixed period to maturity, as well as 

management's expectations of the settlement period for all other financial instruments. For this reason, the 

amounts may not reconcile to the Statement of financial position. 
  

 

Consolidated Entity 

2016 

$  

                      

 

Financial instruments Fixed 

interest 

rate  

1 year  

or less   

Fixed 

interest 

rate  

1-5 

years   

Variable 

interest 

rate 

  

Non-

interest 

bearing 

  

Total 

 

 Financial assets           

 Cash assets -   -   629,155   -   629,155   

 Term deposits 573,017   6,875   -   -   579,892   

 Unlisted share trusts -   -   -   1,343,192   1,343,192   

 Receivables -   -   -   1,498,356   1,498,356   

 Total financial assets 573,017   6,875   629,155   2,841,548   4,050,595   

            

 Financial liabilities           

 Payables -   -   -   2,228,305   2,228,305   

 Bank loans secured -   32,823   5,709,651   -   5,742,474   

 Total financial liabilities -   32,823   5,709,651   2,228,305   7,970,779   

            

            

 

Parent Entity 

2016 

$  

                      

 

Financial instruments Fixed 

interest 

rate  

1 year  

or less   

Fixed 

interest 

rate  

1-5 

years   

Variable 

interest 

rate 

  

Non-

interest 

bearing 

  

Total 

 

 Financial assets           

 Cash assets -   -   95,347   -   95,347   

 Term deposits 573,017   -   -   -   573,017   

 Unlisted share trusts -   -   -   1,343,192   1,343,192   

 Shares in controlled entities -   -   -   2,521,936   2,521,936   

 Loans to controlled entities -   -   -   11,443,248   11,443,248   

 Receivables -   -   -   1,012,744   1,012,744   

 Total financial assets 573,017   -   95,347   16,321,120   16,989,484   

            

 Financial liabilities           

 Payables -   -   -   1,740,525   1,740,525   
 Bank loans secured -  -  1,500,000  -  1,500,000  

 

 

Total financial liabilities -   -   1,500,000   1,740,525   3,240,525   
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c Net fair values:  The net fair values of listed investments have been valued at the quoted market bid price at 

balance date adjusted for transaction costs expected to be incurred. For other assets and other liabilities the net fair 

value approximates their carrying value. No financial assets and financial liabilities are readily traded on organised 

markets in standardised form other than listed investments. Financial assets where the carrying amount exceeds net 

fair values in 2017: nil (2016: nil). 
           

 
The aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities at balance date were: 

 

          

 

      2017 

$ 
  2016 

$ 

 

          

    

Carrying 

amount   

Net fair  

value   

Carrying 

amount   

Net fair  

value 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Consolidated Entity   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

           

 Financial assets          

 Available-for-sale financial assets at fair value  -  -  1,343,192  1,343,192 

 Held-to-maturity financial assets  579,892  579,892  579,892  579,892 

 Receivables   1,158,908  1,158,908  1,498,356  1,498,356 

           

 Total financial assets   1,738,800  1,738,800  3,421,440  3,421,440 

           

 Financial liabilities          

 Payables   2,101,150  2,101,150  2,228,305   2,228,305  

 Bank loans secured   6,893,926  6,893,926  5,742,474   5,742,474  

             

 Total financial liabilities   8,995,076  8,995,076  7,970,779   7,970,779  

           

           

 Parent entity          

           

 Financial assets          

 Available-for-sale financial assets at fair value  -  -  1,343,192  1,343,192 

 Held-to-maturity financial assets  573,017  573,017  573,017  573,017 

 Receivables   431,047  431,047  1,012,744  1,012,744 

           

 Total financial assets   1,004,064  1,004,064  2,928,953  2,928,953 

           

 Financial liabilities          

 Payables   1,550,244  1,550,244  1,740,525   1,740,525  

 Bank loans secured   2,500,000  2,500,000  1,500,000   1,500,000  

             

 Total financial liabilities   4,050,244  4,050,244  3,240,525   3,240,525  
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d Sensitivity analysis         

          

 

Equity price risk sensitivity analysis:  The table below indicates the equity instruments to which the consolidated entity 

had exposure at 30 June. The effect on the Statement of comprehensive income and the fair value of equity instruments, 

due to a reasonably probable change in equity prices, and the resulting change in the fair value of equity instruments, 

with all other variables held constant, is as follows: 
          

   Consolidated Entity  Parent Entity 

     

2017 

$   

2016 

$   

2017 

$   

2016 

$ 

 

         

  

Movement 

in 

equity 

price 

% 

Sensitivity 

of profit (before tax) and fair value of equity Instrument 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Unlisted Australian unit trusts +10 -          134,318   -   134,318  

          

 Unlisted Australian unit trusts -10 -  (134,318)  -  (134,318) 

          

 

Interest rate sensitivity analysis:  The consolidated entity has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to the exposure 

to interest rate risk at balance date. This sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect on the current year results and 

equity which could result from a change in this risk. At 30 June, the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in 

the interest rate, with all other variables remaining unchanged would be as follows: 
          

   Consolidated Entity  Parent Entity 

     

2017 

$   

2016 

$   

2017 

$   

2016 

$ 

          

  

Change in 

interest 

rate 

% 

Sensitivity 

of profit and equity (before tax)  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Financial assets         

 Cash at bank and in hand +2 3,208  3,160  1,755  1,907 

 Short-term money market +2 40,031  9,423  25,174  - 

 Held-to-maturity financial assets +2 11,598  11,598  11,460  11,460 

          

 Cash at bank and in hand -2 (3,208)  (3,160)  (1,755)  (1,907) 

 Short-term money market -2 (40,031)  (9,423)  (25,174)  - 

 Held-to-maturity financial assets -2 (11,598)  (11,598)  (11,460)  (11,460) 

          

 Financial liabilities         

 Bank loan secured -2 137,879  114,849  (50,000)  (30,000) 

          

 Bank loan secured +2 (137,879)  (114,849)  50,000  30,000 
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Note 27. Fair value measurement 

  
Fair value hierarchy 
The consolidated entity measures and recognises the following assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis 
after initial recognition: 
- derivative financial instruments 
- financial assets held for trading 
- available-for-sale financial assets 
- freehold land and buildings 
- investment properties 
- obligation for contingent consideration arising from a business combination 

  
The consolidated entity subsequently measures some items of freehold land and buildings at fair value on a non-
recurring basis. 

  
The consolidated entity does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a non-recurring basis. 

  
Fair Value Hierarchy 
AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the fair value hierarchy, 
which categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible levels based on the lowest level that an input that 
is significant to the measurement can be categorised into as follows: 

  
Level 1 
Measurements based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can 
access at the measurement date. 

  
Level 2 
Measurements based on inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly. 
 
Level 3 
Measurements based on unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
 
The following tables provide the fair values of the consolidated entity's assets and liabilities measured and recognised 
on a recurring basis after initial recognition and the categorisation within the fair value hierarchy: 
 

  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Consolidated Entity - 2017  $  $  $  $ 

         

Assets         

Term deposits  579,892   -  -  579,892  

Investment property  -  39,063,384   -  39,063,384  

Land and buildings  -  2,100,000   -  2,100,000  

Total assets  579,892   41,163,384   -  41,743,276  

  
  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Consolidated Entity - 2016  $  $  $  $ 

         

Assets         

Units in unit trusts  1,343,192   -  -  1,343,192  

Term deposits  579,892   -  -  579,892  

Investment property  -  37,059,036   -  37,059,036  

Land and buildings  -  2,184,821   -  2,184,821  

Total assets  1,923,084   39,243,857   -  41,166,941  

  
  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Parent Entity - 2017  $  $  $  $ 

         

Assets         

Term deposits  573,017   -  -  573,017  

Shares in controlled entities  -  2,521,936   -  2,521,936  

Investment property  -  20,571,104   -  20,571,104  

Total assets  573,017   23,093,040   -  23,666,057  

  



KeyInvest Ltd 
Notes to the financial statements 
30 June 2017 
 

  
Note 27. Fair value measurement (continued) 
  

  KeyInvest Ltd Group Annual Report 2016/17       48 

  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Parent Entity - 2016  $  $  $  $ 

         

Assets         

Units in unit trusts  1,343,192   -  -  1,343,192  

Shares in controlled entities  -  2,521,936   -  2,521,936  

Term deposits  573,017   -  -  573,017  

Investment property  -  19,015,866   -  19,015,866  

Land and buildings  -  484,821   -  484,821  

Total assets  1,916,209   22,022,623   -  23,938,832  

  
The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more 
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market data. 
If all significant inputs required to measure fair value are observable, the asset or liability is included in level 2. If one or 
more significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the asset or liability is included in level 3. 

  
There were no transfers between levels during the financial year. 

  
Valuation Techniques 
The consolidated entity selects a valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data is available to measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data primarily depends on the specific 
characteristics of the asset or liability being measured. The valuation techniques selected by the consolidated entity are 
consistent with one or more of the following valuation approaches: 

  
Market Approach: 
Valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions for identical or 
similar assets or liabilities. 
 
Income Approach: 
Valuation techniques that convert estimated future cash flows or income and expenses into a single discounted present 
value. 
 
Cost Approach: 
Valuation techniques that reflect the current replacement cost of an asset at its current service capacity. 
  
Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would use when pricing 
the asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting a valuation technique, the consolidated entity 
gives priority to those techniques that maximise the use of observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable 
inputs. Inputs that are developed using market data (such as publicly available information on actual transactions) and 
reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would generally use when pricing the asset or liability are considered 
observable, whereas inputs for which market data is not available and therefore are developed using the best 
information available about such assumptions are considered unobservable. 
  
Valuation techniques for fair value measurements categorised within level 2 and level 3 
The basis of the valuation of investment properties is fair value. The investment properties are revalued annually based 
on independent assessments by a member of the Australian Property Institute having recent experience in the location 
and category of investment property being valued. Valuations are based on current prices in an active market for similar 
properties of the same location and condition, subject to similar leases and takes into consideration occupancy rates 
and returns on investment. 

  
The basis of the valuation of land and buildings is fair value. The land and buildings were last revalued on 30 June 2017 
based on independent assessments by a member of the Australian Property Institute having recent experience in the 
location and category of land and buildings being valued. The Directors do not believe that there has been a material 
movement in fair value since the revaluation date. Valuations are based on current prices for similar properties in the 
same location and condition. 

  
Accounting policy for fair value measurement 
When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the 
fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place 
either: in the principal market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 
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Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its 
highest and best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs. 

  
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified, into three levels, using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. Classifications are reviewed at each reporting date and 
transfers between levels are determined based on a reassessment of the lowest level of input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement. 

  
For recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, external valuers may be used when internal expertise is 
either not available or when the valuation is deemed to be significant. External valuers are selected based on market 
knowledge and reputation. Where there is a significant change in fair value of an asset or liability from one period to 
another, an analysis is undertaken, which includes a verification of the major inputs applied in the latest valuation and a 
comparison, where applicable, with external sources of data. 

  
  

Note 28. Key management personnel compensation 

  
Directors 
Members approved a total aggregate Non Executive Director fee pool of $530,000, inclusive of Superannuation 
Guarantee Levy, at the 2015 AGM. During 2017 the following fees were paid - Non Executive Directors received annual 
fees of $56,529, Chairman - $123,566 and the Deputy Chairman - $86,445. In recognition of the additional workload 
resulting from participating on various Board Committees, Non Executive Directors are paid $5,000 annually for 
undertaking the role of Chairman of a Committee.  
 
Non Executive Directors of KeyInvest Property Loans Pty Ltd receive annual fees of $21,009 and the Chairman 
$26,253. 
 
Superannuation Guarantee Levy obligations for individual Non Executive Directors are additional to Directors' fees 
disclosed above. 

  
During 2017 Mr Timothy Sarah took a leave of absence. Mr Sarah remained a Non Executive Director of the company 
during 2017 but did not receive any Director fees. As a result total Non Executive Directors Fees decreased from 
$499,113 in 2016 to $439,870 in 2017, a total decrease of 11.87%.  

  
Other key management personnel 
The key management personnel of the consolidated entity consisted of the following 11 (2016: 11) positions: Managing 
Director, Chief Financial Officer / Chief Investment Officer, Company Secretary, Chief Operating Officer, Chief 
Executive Officer (KeyInvest Property Loans Pty Ltd) and Non Executive Directors (6). 

  
Compensation 
Total remuneration of the key management personnel is set out below: 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Short-term employee benefits  1,602,840   1,458,554   1,281,559   1,183,803  

Long-term benefits  134,604   121,490   104,282   97,618  

         

  1,737,444   1,580,044   1,385,841   1,281,421  
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Note 29. Capital and lease commitments 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Capital expenditure commitments         
Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as 
liabilities: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Construction of retirement villages 

 
6,285,397  

 
2,005,997  

 
2,843,620  

 
790,891  

         

Payable         
Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as 
liabilities, payable: 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Within one year  6,285,397   2,005,997   2,843,620   790,891  

  
  

Note 30. Related party transactions 

  
Parent Entity 
The ultimate parent entity is KeyInvest Ltd which is incorporated in Australia. 

  
Subsidiaries 
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 31. 

  
Key management personnel 
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 28. 

  
Transactions with related parties 
Other than specific transactions listed below, other transactions with related parties during the current and previous 
financial year have been eliminated as a part of producing the consolidated financial reports. 
 
The following specific transactions occurred with related parties: 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Payment for goods and services:         
Dr R N Sexton was a Director of an investment management 
company that received fees for investment management 
services provided to the consolidated entity. 
 

 

-   

 

167,324  

 

-   

 

167,324  
Mr D L Stillwell is a Director of a human resource 
management consultancy that received fees for human 
resources services provided to the consolidated entity. 

 

5,742  

 

37,384  

 

5,742 

 

37,384  

         

  
Terms and conditions 
All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates. 
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Note 31. Interests in subsidiaries 

  
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1: 

  
    Ownership interest 

  Principal place of business /  2017  2016 

Name  Country of incorporation  %  % 

       
Life Events Bond Pty Ltd  Australia  100.00%   100.00%  
KeyInvest Retirement Living Pty Ltd  Australia  100.00%   100.00%  
KeyInvest Gables Pty Ltd  Australia  100.00%   100.00%  
KeyInvest Horsham Pty Ltd  Australia  100.00%   100.00%  
KeyInvest Winzor Pty Ltd  Australia  100.00%   100.00%  
KeyInvest Vistas Pty Ltd  Australia  100.00%   100.00%  
Chiton RV Pty Ltd AFT Chiton RV Unit Trust  Australia  100.00%   100.00%  
Chiton RV Unit Trust  Australia  100.00%   100.00%  
Chiton RV Developments Pty Ltd  Australia  100.00%   100.00%  
KeyInvest Property Loans Pty Ltd  Australia  51.10%   51.10%  
Australian Associated Advisers Pty Ltd  Australia  51.10%   51.10%  
KeyInvest Lending Pty Ltd  Australia  -  51.10%  
Money Advisers Pty Ltd  Australia  51.10%   51.10%  
Aussie Unit Trust  Australia  51.10%   51.10%  

  
Percentage of voting power is in proportion to ownership. 

  
KeyInvest Lending Pty Ltd was de-registered during 2017. 

  
  

Note 32. Economic dependency 

  
The consolidated entity has economic dependency on Corporate Information Management Pty Ltd for the provision of 
information technology services in relation to the consolidated entity's life funds membership system and on Choice 
Aggregation Services for mortgage broking services. 

  
  

Note 33. Events after the reporting period 
  
The parent entity is currently seeking a binding private ruling from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) in relation to the 
ongoing pre-capital gains tax (CGT) status of certain assets which it has continuously held since before the introduction 
of CGT legislation in 1985. The ATO have yet to formally provide their ruling which affects the period from 1 July 2014 
to 30 June 2017 for these specific assets. A possibility remains that the pre-CGT status assumed for these assets will 
not apply after 1 July 2014 and that the tax treatment of the affected assets in the financial statements would change to 
the extent that unrealised capital gains or losses in the affected period may be subject to CGT with consequential 
adjustment of deferred tax balances. The financial effect of changing the CGT status of these assets cannot be reliably 
estimated at this time. 
  
The parent entity is undertaking but has not finalised a substantial restructure of its loan facilities by increasing both 
capacity and flexibility to support the strategy of accelerating the completion of its retirement village developments and 
pursuit of corporate growth opportunities.
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Note 34. Reconciliation of surplus/(deficit) after income tax to net cash from/(used in) operating activities 

  
  Consolidated Entity Parent Entity 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

  $  $  $  $ 

         

Surplus/(deficit) after income tax benefit for the year  (387,158)  686,806  457,053  678,704 

         

Adjustments for:         

Depreciation and amortisation  237,993  218,030  183,996  192,211 

Impairment  73,141  (700,751)  (352,035)  (242,011) 

Net loss on disposal of non-current assets  -    35,791  -  35,751 

         

Change in operating assets and liabilities:         

Decrease/(increase) in receivables  339,448  315,933  487,267  (249,794) 

Decrease/(increase) in current tax assets  17,040  (17,040)  -  - 
Decrease/(increase) in revaluation of the consolidated 
entity’s and residents’ interests in retirement villages 

 
9,105,830 

 
3,898,175 

 
3,778,413 

 
2,005,960 

Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets  (420,085)  (841,822)  (1,464,874)  (890,689) 

Increase/(decrease) in payables  (127,156)  129,627  (190,281)  (167,512) 

Increase/(decrease) in current tax liabilities  3,050  (87,170)  -  - 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions  45,584  64,966  32,262  45,888 

Increase/(decrease) in unearned income  (385,407)  (403,104)  (385,407)  (403,104) 

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liabilities  724,205  950,212  461,271  809,798 

         

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities  9,226,487  4,249,653  3,007,667  1,815,202 
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Note 35. Capital management  
 
KeyInvest Ltd is a public company, limited by shares and guarantee. No shares have been issued. The guarantee acts as both 
the means of membership of KeyInvest Ltd and the means of limiting the members' liability. The consolidated entity's capital 
base is comprised entirely of retained earnings. No dividend distributions are possible and capital cannot be raised without 
triggering a demutualisation. 
 
Management effectively manages the consolidated entity’s capital within the APRA Prudential Standard - Capital Adequacy 
LPS 110 which became effective 1 January 2013. The Standard requires the Board to ensure that the consolidated entity 
maintains an adequate level and quality of capital commensurate with the scale, nature and complexity of its business and risk 
profile, such that it is able to meet its obligations under a wide range of circumstances. 
 
Management controls the capital of the consolidated entity in order to ensure that the consolidated entity can fund its operations 
and continue as a going concern. There have been no significant changes in the strategy adopted by management to control 
the capital of the consolidated entity since the prior year. At 30 June 2017 the consolidated entity had borrowings of $6,893,926 
(2016: $5,742,474). 
 
 
Measurement of Capital Base and Capital Adequacy as per APRA Prudential Standard - Capital Adequacy LPS 110 
 

2017 
$ 

Fund Net Assets Member 
Balances 

and 
Unallocated 
Surpluses 

Deductions 
from 

Capital 
Base 

Capital 
Base 

All Tier 1 
 

(a) 

Prescribed 
Capital 
Amount 

 
(b) 

Capital 
Surplus 

Management Fund 28,541,300 - (1,204,233) 27,337,067 (14,048,134) 13,288,933 

Supersaver Bond Fund 30,986,577  (30,986,577) - - - -  

Life Events Bond Funds 15,860,567  (15,860,567) - - - -  

Pre-Arranged Funeral Fund 31,863,787  (31,863,787) - - - -  

KeyInvest Funeral Bond 109,783,873  (109,783,873) - - - -  

Income Security Fund 2,885,441  (2,885,441) - - - -  

       

The Management Fund Capital Adequacy Multiple (%)  (a)/(b) is 195%. 
 
 

2016 
$ 

Fund Net Assets Member 
Balances 

and 
Unallocated 
Surpluses 

Deductions 
from 

Capital 
Base 

Capital 
Base 

All Tier 1 
 

(a) 

Prescribed 
Capital 
Amount 

 
(b) 

Capital 
Surplus 

Management Fund 25,507,479 - (1,548,595) 23,958,884 (10,000,000) 13,958,884 

Supersaver Bond Fund 34,300,995 (34,300,995) - - - -  

Life Events Bond Funds 10,178,797 (10,178,797) - - - -  

Pre-Arranged Funeral Fund 35,110,381 (35,110,381) - - - -  

KeyInvest Funeral Bond 86,900,828 (86,900,828) - - - -  

Income Security Fund 3,354,367 (3,354,367) - - - -  

       

The Management Fund Capital Adequacy Multiple (%)  (a)/(b) is 237%. 
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Note 36. Life investment contracts    
           
Policyholder assets and 
liabilities 2017 
 
 

Supersaver 

Bond Fund 

 

Life Events 

Bond Funds 

 

Pre-Arranged 

Funeral Fund 

 

KeyInvest 

Funeral Fund 

 

Income 

Security Fund 

 

Total Life 

Investment 

Contracts 

 $   $   $   $   $   $ 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,251,096   648,337   6,219,363   10,431,767   161,212   22,711,775  

Financial assets 25,866,970   15,429,285   25,628,038   99,562,072   2,710,000   169,196,365  

Loans and advances 6,720   -   -   -   -   6,720  

Receivables 108,753   4,052   170,817   398,404   15,454   697,480  

Current tax benefit -   -   84,540   -   5,467   90,007  

Deferred tax assets -   74,158   -   -   -   74,158  

Total assets 31,233,539   16,155,832   32,102,758   110,392,243   2,892,133   192,776,505  

            
Payables 25,599   6,501   233,161   214,726   6,692   486,679  

Current tax liability 201,690   157,345   -   332,185   -   691,220  

Deferred tax liability 19,673   131,419   5,810   61,459   -   218,361  

Policyholder liabilities 30,268,332   15,860,567   31,470,885  109,089,215  2,839,489   189,528,488 

Unallocated policyholder benefits 718,245   -   392,902  694,658  45,952   1,851,757 

Total liabilities 31,233,539   16,155,832   32,102,758   110,392,243   2,892,133   192,776,505  

Net assets -   -   -   -   -   -  

            
Solvency requirements for the life investment contracts were met at all times during the financial year. As at 30 June 2017 the life investment contracts 

had investment assets in excess of policyholder liabilities of $1,851,757 (2016: $2,538,431). 

            
Policyholder income and 
expenses 2017 
 
 

Supersaver 

Bond Fund 

 

Life Events 

Bond Funds 

 

Pre-Arranged 

Funeral Fund 

 

KeyInvest 

Funeral Fund 

 

Income 

Security Fund 

 

Total Life 

Investment 

Contracts 

 $   $   $   $   $   $ 

Investment income 977,621  1,035,193  918,514  3,273,003  76,948  6,281,279 

Investment expenses (65,578)  -  (66,275)  (188,752)  -  (320,605) 

Management fees (561,905)  (70,584)  (596,921)  (1,624,388)  (53,406)  (2,907,204) 

Allocated to policyholders (294,043)   (816,242)  (487,049)  (1,442,877)  (42,019)  (3,082,230) 

Profit (loss) before tax 56,095   148,367   (231,731)  16,986   (18,477)  (28,760) 

Income tax benefit (expense) (195,376)  (148,367)  92,415  (412,053)  5,467  (657,914) 

Profit (loss) after tax (139,281)   -   (139,316)   (395,067)   (13,010)  (686,674) 

Transfer from (to) other funds -  -  -  -  -  - 

Unallocated policyholder benefits at 

beginning of the year 857,526  -  532,218  1,089,725  58,962  2,538,431 

Unallocated policyholder benefits 

at end of the year 718,245  -  392,902  694,658  45,952  1,851,757 

            
Movement of policyholder liabilities 2017 

          

Value of policyholder liabilities at 

beginning of the year 33,443,469  10,178,797  34,578,163  85,811,103  3,295,405  167,306,937 

Deposits 753,116  5,905,733  22,489  27,096,512  960  33,778,810 

Allocation to policyholders 294,043  816,242  487,049  1,442,877  42,019  3,082,230 

Withdrawals (4,222,296)  (1,040,205)  (3,616,816)  (5,261,277)  (498,895)  (14,639,489) 

Transfer from (to) other funds -  -  -  -  -  - 

Value of policyholder liabilities at 

end of the year 30,268,332  15,860,567  31,470,885  109,089,215  2,839,489  189,528,488 

Policyholder liabilities and 

unallocated benefits 30,986,577  15,860,567  31,863,787  109,783,873  2,885,441  191,380,245 
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Note 36. Life investment contracts (continued)    
           
Policyholder assets and 
liabilities 2016 
 
 

Supersaver 

Bond Fund 

 

Life Events 

Bond Funds 

 

Pre-Arranged 

Funeral Fund 

 

KeyInvest 

Funeral Fund 

 

Income 

Security Fund 

 

Total Life 

Investment 

Contracts 

 $   $   $   $   $   $ 

Cash and cash equivalents 4,227,231   614,539   7,425,165   8,192,345   330,170   20,789,450  

Financial assets 30,232,456   9,725,376   27,706,297   78,715,562   3,000,000   149,379,691  

Loans and advances 6,720   -   -   -   -   6,720  

Receivables 132,536   6,083   189,850   313,467   21,494   663,430  

Current tax benefit -   -   94,147   -   5,864   100,011  

Deferred tax assets -   7,008   -   18,409   -   25,417  

Total assets 34,598,943   10,353,006   35,415,459   87,239,783   3,357,528   170,964,719  

            
Payables 22,426   7,450   291,396   139,560   3,161   463,993  

Current tax liability 249,534   93,512   -   199,395   -   542,441  

Deferred tax liability 25,988   73,247   13,682   -   -   112,917  

Policyholder liabilities 33,443,469   10,178,797   34,578,163   85,811,103   3,295,405   167,306,937  

Unallocated policyholder benefits 857,526   -   532,218   1,089,725   58,962   2,538,431  

Total liabilities 34,598,943   10,353,006   35,415,459   87,239,783   3,357,528   170,964,719  

Net assets -   -   -   -   -   -  

            
Solvency requirements for the life investment contracts were met at all times during the financial year. As at 30 June 2016 the life investment contracts 

had investment assets in excess of policyholder liabilities of $2,538,431 (2015: $2,812,226). 

            
Policyholder income and 
expenses 2016 
 
 

Supersaver 

Bond Fund 

 

Life Events 

Bond Funds 

 

Pre-Arranged 

Funeral Fund 

 

KeyInvest 

Funeral Fund 

 

Income 

Security Fund 

 

Total Life 

Investment 

Contracts 

 $   $   $   $   $   $ 

Investment income 940,199  50,303  982,643  2,193,601  77,687  4,244,433 

Investment expenses (68,295)  -  (79,511)  (150,989)  (2,135)  (300,930) 

Management fees (634,140)  (66,329)  (749,975)  (1,418,466)  (62,895)  (2,931,805) 

Allocated to policyholders (301,085)  44,604  (243,739)  (525,271)  (33,441)  (1,058,932) 

Profit (loss) before tax (63,321)  28,578  (90,582)  98,875  (20,784)  (47,234) 

Income tax benefit (expense) (185,390)  (28,578)  77,843  (95,911)  5,475  (226,561) 

Profit (loss) after tax (248,711)  -  (12,739)  2,964  (15,309)  (273,795) 

Transfer from (to) other funds -  -  -  -  -  - 

Unallocated policyholder benefits at 

beginning of the year 1,106,237  -  544,957  1,086,761  74,271  2,812,226 

Unallocated policyholder benefits 

at end of the year 857,526  -  532,218  1,089,725  58,962  2,538,431 

            
Movement of policyholder liabilities 2016 

          

Value of policyholder liabilities at 

beginning of the year 37,369,618  10,341,378  38,351,827  80,830,092  3,876,580  170,769,495 

Deposits 473,200  1,475,909  7,264  9,506,883  25,960  11,489,216 

Allocation to policyholders 301,085  (44,604)  243,739  525,271  33,441  1,058,932 

Withdrawals (4,700,434)  (1,593,886)  (4,024,667)  (5,051,143)  (640,576)  (16,010,706) 

Transfer from (to) other funds -  -  -  -  -  - 

Value of policyholder liabilities at 

end of the year 33,443,469  10,178,797  34,578,163  85,811,103  3,295,405  167,306,937 

Policyholder liabilities and 

unallocated benefits 34,300,995  10,178,797  35,110,381  86,900,828  3,354,367  169,845,368 
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In the Directors’ opinion: 

(a) the consolidated Financial Statements of KeyInvest Ltd and its controlled entities are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and Consolidated Group as at 30 June 
2017 and of its performance, as represented by the results of its operations and cash flows for the year 
ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with the Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001, and 

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that KeyInvest Ltd will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Dr Roger N Sexton AM 
Chairman 

Date:  28 September 2017 
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